## Self-Reported Experiences of Discrimination and Health: Scientific Advances, Ongoing Controversies, and Emerging Issues

# Tené T. Lewis,<sup>1</sup> Courtney D. Cogburn,<sup>2</sup> and David R. Williams<sup>3,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia 30322; email: ttlewis@emory.edu

<sup>2</sup>Columbia School of Social Work, Columbia University, New York, New York 10027; email: cc3803@columbia.edu

<sup>3</sup>Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Harvard T. H. Chan School of Public Health, Harvard University, Boston, Massachusetts 02115; email: dwilliam@hsph.harvard.edu

<sup>4</sup>Department of African and African American Studies, Harvard University, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02138

Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 2015. 11:407-40

First published online as a Review in Advance on January 2, 2015

The Annual Review of Clinical Psychology is online at clinpsy.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032814-112728

Copyright © 2015 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

#### Keywords

discrimination, stress, psychosocial, unfair treatment, racism, sexism, prejudice, measurement, systematic review

#### Abstract

Over the past two decades, research examining the impact of self-reported experiences of discrimination on mental and physical health has increased dramatically. Studies have found consistent associations between exposure to discrimination and a wide range of Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM)-diagnosed mental disorders as well as objective physical health outcomes. Associations are seen in cross-sectional as well as longitudinal studies and persist even after adjustment for confounding variables, including personality characteristics and other threats to validity. However, controversies remain, particularly around the best approach to measuring experiences of discrimination, the significance of racial/ethnic discrimination versus overall mistreatment, the need to account for "intersectionalities," and the importance of comprehensive assessments. These issues are discussed in detail, along with emerging areas of emphasis including cyber discrimination, anticipatory stress or vigilance around discrimination, and interventions with potential to reduce the negative effects of discrimination on health. We also discuss priorities for future research and implications for interventions and policy.

#### Contents

THE ONGOING SIGNIFICANCE OF RACIAL/ETHNIC DISCRIMINATION	
IN A "POSTRACIAL" SOCIETY	408
RESEARCH ON DISCRIMINATION AND MENTAL HEALTH	409
DISCRIMINATION AND MENTAL DISORDERS	409
RECENT RESEARCH ON DISCRIMINATION AND PHYSICAL HEALTH	413
IMPLICATIONS FOR RACIAL/ETHNIC DISPARITIES IN HEALTH	413
ONGOING CONTROVERSIES AND GAPS IN KNOWLEDGE	414
Qualities of Perception: Challenges for Measuring and Assessing Health Effects	414
Racial/Ethnic Discrimination Versus Overall Discrimination	416
The Importance of Intersectionalities in the Study of Discrimination and Health	419
The Need for a More Comprehensive Assessment of Racism	
and Discriminatory Experiences	420
The Importance of Assessing Additional Psychosocial Stressors	
Related to Social Disadvantage	422
The Importance of Controlling for Depressive Symptoms in Studies	
of Discrimination and Physical Health	423
EMERGING AREAS OF INTEREST	424
Cyber Discrimination	
Potential Moderators or Discrimination Buffers	426
Interventions	427
FINAL THOUGHTS	428

### THE ONGOING SIGNIFICANCE OF RACIAL/ETHNIC DISCRIMINATION IN A "POSTRACIAL" SOCIETY

The 2008 election of Barack Obama to the office of United States President—arguably the nation's most prestigious post—led many to argue that America had become "postracial," i.e., devoid of racial preference, prejudice, or discrimination. However, in the years following the election, the country experienced an 813% increase in hate groups, from 149 groups in 2008 to 1,360 groups in 2012 (South. Poverty Law Cent. 2013), and recent polls suggest that discrimination on the basis of race and ethnicity remains a significant problem for many racial/ethnic minorities in the United States. According to a 2011 report titled "Americans and Race in the Age of Obama," 56% of African Americans and 27% of Latinos believe that there is "a lot" of discrimination in America today, compared to only 16% of whites (Byrd & Mirken 2011).

In addition to subjective accounts of discrimination, numerous empirical reports have documented post-2008 discrimination against both African Americans and Latinos across multiple domains. For example, a 2012 study sponsored by the US Department of Housing and Urban Development (US Dep. Hous. Urban Dev. 2013) found that racial/ethnic minority candidates who were seeking housing were told about and shown fewer homes and apartments than whites were, even when their credit histories and incomes were the same. Similarly, a 2014 report from the New York Civil Liberties Union on "stop and frisk" patterns of New York police officers found that black and Latino New Yorkers were more likely to be frisked than were white New Yorkers, and among those frisked, blacks and Latinos were less likely to be found with a weapon (N.Y. Civ. Lib. Union 2014). In addition, studies of emergency rooms across the country have found that among patients with long bone fractures or kidney stones (conditions for which standards of care exist for pain management), African Americans and Latinos were less likely to receive adequate pain medication than were their white counterparts (Pletcher et al. 2008). Thus, considerable objective evidence suggests that discrimination remains a significant problem in the United States today.

A large and growing body of research suggests that self-reported experiences of discrimination are a form of psychosocial stress that has an adverse impact on both mental and physical health outcomes across a range of racial/ethnic groups. The primary aim of this article is to summarize the current state of the science on discrimination and health and to expand upon prior reviews (Brondolo et al. 2011b, Paradies 2006, Williams & Mohammed 2009) and meta-analytic findings (Dolezsar et al. 2014, Pascoe & Richman 2009, Schmitt et al. 2014), with a particular emphasis on ongoing controversies, gaps in knowledge, and emerging areas of interest.

#### **RESEARCH ON DISCRIMINATION AND MENTAL HEALTH**

Prior reviews on discrimination and health have documented strong and consistent associations between self-reported experiences of discrimination and a variety of indicators of mental health and psychological well-being (Paradies 2006, Schmitt et al. 2014, Williams & Mohammed 2009). In fact, Paradies (2006) asserted that the impact of discriminatory experiences on outcomes was much more pronounced for mental than for physical health. But a meta-analysis by Pascoe & Richman (2009) contradicted this assertion, concluding that although the overall effect of discrimination on mental health appeared to be slightly stronger than the effect on physical health, the difference was not statistically significant.

One limitation of prior work on discrimination and mental health has been an overreliance on scales that measure psychological distress or poor well-being rather than actual clinically diagnosed mental illness. Although both distress and well-being are important in daily life, they do not have the same sustained and long-lasting impact on human functioning that a psychiatric disorder has. Furthermore, some scales that measure symptoms of psychological distress often include items that are confounded with experiences of discrimination. For example, the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CESD) Scale (Radloff 1977) includes two items that measure interpersonal mistreatment—"I felt that people disliked me" and "People were unfriendly"—which may tap more into feelings of discrimination than into symptoms of major depressive disorder. But not all scales include such overlap, and studies that have utilized the CES-D after removing the two interpersonal items also have found significant associations between reports of discrimination and depressive symptoms (Barnes et al. 2004). Thus, it is important to note that despite their limitations, studies of discrimination and psychological distress have provided an important foundation for more recent work on discrimination and clinically diagnosed mental disorders.

#### DISCRIMINATION AND MENTAL DISORDERS

Research on discrimination and psychiatric disorders diagnosed via criteria established by the third, fourth, or fifth editions of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM) has increased in the past five years principally due to large-scale epidemiologic cohort studies of psychiatric disorders in racial/ethnic minority populations funded by the National Institute of Mental Health. Select findings from the National Survey of American Life (NSAL) (Jackson et al. 2004), the National Latino and Asian American Study (NLAAS) (Alegria et al. 2004), and other studies of DSM-IV established mental disorders are summarized in **Table 1**. Although longitudinal research on reports of discrimination and psychiatric disorders has been limited, at

Sendy Comple	Sample	Decian	Fynosure	Outcome(c)	Covariates	Findinge
McLaughlin et al. (2010)	Black $(N = 6,587)$ ; Hispanic $(N = 6,587)$ ; lesbian, gay, bisexual (LGB) (N = 577); females from all groups (N = 20,089)	Cross- sectional	Experiences of Discrimina- tion Scale, past 12 months	DSM-IV 12-month mood, anxiety, and substance use disorders	Gender, race/ethnicity, age, income, education, region, urbanicity, marital status	Positive associations for major depression; mania/hypomania; posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD); generalized anxiety disorder (GAD); and social phobia for blacks, Hispanics, and women but not LGB groups
Soto et al. (2011)	African Americans (N = 3,570), Afro Caribbeans (N = 1,438), non- Hispanic whites (N = 891) from the National Survey of American Life (NSAL)	Cross- sectional	Detroit Area Study Lifetime Discrimina- tion Scale (racial versus nonracial attributions)	DSM-IV generalized anxiety disorder	Gender, age, poverty index	Positive association between nonracial discrimination and GAD for all three groups; positive association between racial discrimination and GAD for African Americans only
Levine et al. (2014)	African Americans (N = 3,570), Afro Caribbeans (N = 1,621), non- Hispanic whites (N = 891) from the NSAL	Cross- sectional	Everyday Dis- crimination Scale, Lifetime Discrimina- tion Scale	DSM-IV social anxiety disorder (SAD)	Sex, age, poverty index, marital status, education, employment status	Positive association between everyday discrimination and SAD for all three groups. No association between lifetime discrimination and SAD
Gee et al. (2007)	Asian Americans (N = 2,047) from the National Latino and Asian American Study (NLAAS)	Cross- sectional	Everyday Dis- crimination Scale	Any DSM-IV disorder within the past 12 months, DSM-IV 12-month anxiety disorder, DSM-IV 12-month depressive disorder	Age, gender, education, ethnicity, region, employment, marital status, generation, family cohesion, poverty, acculturative stress, self-reported physical health, social desirability	Positive association with any DSM-IV disorder within the past 12 months Positive association with DSM-IV 12-month depressive disorder Positive association with DSM-IV 12-month anxiety disorder
Lau et al. (2013)	US- and foreign-born Asian American women (N = 1,030) from the NLAAS	Cross- sectional	Everyday Dis- crimination Scale	DSM-IV lifetime depression DSM-IV lifetime anxiety	Age, income, education, social desirability	Positive associations for both DSM-IV lifetime depression and DSM-IV lifetime anxiety

Positive association for Latino immigrants with anxiety and depressive disorders Negative association for Asian American immigrants with lifetime anxiety and 12-month and lifetime depressive disorders	Positive association between everyday discrimination and PMDD Positive association between attributing discrimination to race, gender, or any other reason and PMDD Only subtle discrimination was associated with PMDD	Positive association between reports of everyday discrimination and increased prevalence of both lifetime and 12-month psychotic experiences	Positive association between everyday discrimination and binge eating in past 6 months but not past 3 months	(Continued)
Age, sex	Race, age, employment status, education, income, self-rated physical health, self-rated mental health, smoking status, history of oral contraception, past-month DSM-IV diagnosis, social desirability	Age, gender, income-to-poverty ratio, education, immigrant status, race, substance use or PTSD diagnosis, social interactions, and region	Childhood weight, parental weight, Perception of Teasing Scale because of weight, perceived stress, institutional discrimination, discrimination impact	
DSM-IV lifetime and 12-month anxiety and depressive disorders	Premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PMDD)	Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of psychotic experiences (e.g., auditory hallucinations, visual hallucinations, delusions) using DSM-IV symptoms	Eating Disorder Diagnostic Scale (EDDS)-assessed binge eating over the past 3 and 6 months Eating Disorder Inventory (EDI)-assessed bulimia subscale	•
Everyday Dis- crimination Scale	Everyday Dis- crimination Scale, "main reason" for experiences, and subtle versus blatant subfactors of the scale	Everyday Dis- crimination Scale, main reason for experiences	Everyday Dis- crimination Scale, Lifetime Discrimina- tion Scale, overall impact of discrimination scale	
Cross- sectional	Cross- sectional	Cross- sectional	Cross- sectional	
Latino $(N = 1,458)$ and Asian American (N = 1,594) immigrants from NLAAS	Asian, Latina, and black premenopausal women ages 18-40 (N = 2,718) from NLAAS and NSAL	8,990 Latino, Asian, African American, and Afro Caribbean adults from NLAAS and NSAL	381 participants ages 18–76 years	
Leong et al. (2013)	Pilver et al. (2011)	Oh et al. (2014)	Durso et al. (2012)	

(Continued)	
Table 1	

StudySampleDesignExposureOutcome(s)ConstancesEndongsSeag et al.Women pregnant withCrossEvryday Dis-Nonolal Women'sPowen's doctation.Powen's doctation.Seag et al.Women pregnant withCrossEvryday Dis-Nonolal Women'sPowen's doctation.Powen's doctation.Seag et al.Women pregnant withCrossEvryday Dis-Nonolal Women'sPowen's doctation.Powen's doctation.(N = 610), 55.3%Sain Powen'sScale (9 ricm)(NNS-PTSD)Nonolal-essessedPowen's doctation.Powen's doctation.7.6% Asian Precificant.TSD syngoonsScale (9 ricm)(NNS-PTSD)residence in high-crimePowen's doctation.7.6% Asian Precificant.Essenfor doctation.(NNS-PTSD)residence in high-crimePowen's doctation.7.6% Asian Precificant.Esteryday Dis-(NNS-PTSD)residence in high-crime constrained and distribution.Powen's doctation.1.6% Asian Precificant.Esteryday Dis-for doctation.Powen's doctation.Powen's doctation.American.Hispander, 2.2% NativeNonolalPowen's doctation.Powen's doctation.American.Hispander, 2.3% NativeNonolalPowen's doctation.Powen's doctation.American.Hispander, 2.3% NativeNonolalPowen's doctation.Powen's doctation.American.Hispander, 2.3% NativeNonolalPowen's doctation.Powen's doctation.American.Bowen's doctation.Powen's doctation.Powe	in the second						
Women pregnant with heri first clildCross- terrinationEveryday Dis- study PTSDNational Women's residence in high-crime residence in high-crime and adtitional module-assessedPoverty, education, residence in high-crime area, minorityT7.6% Asian/Pacific Islander, 9.2% Nainve Middle EasternCoss- scule and adtitional module-assessedNWS-PTSD) area, minority and adtitional module-assessed area, minority minorityPoverty, education, residence an ingrib-crime area, minorityT7.6% Asian/Pacific Islander, 9.2% Nainve Middle EasternCoss- and adtitional module-assessed about the using DSM-IV min reason" and additional min the United sculaPoverty, education, area, minority and additional module-assessed area, minorityT9.9Somali adolescents, ages at least 12 monthsCross- sculaEveryday Dis- with the UCLAPirSD Index years in the United years in the United years in the United years in the United brands, aculturative hardships, acculturative brands, aculturative brand, module-assessed at least 12 monthsT90)adults (black, colored, white)scutonal adults (black, colored, white)Scuel and 12-monthAge, sex, rarce, education, attravianteF90)adults (black, colored, white)scutonal adults (black, colored, white)Age, sectional scutonal adult scutors, social scutonal brainPircende, years, internal prevers, social scutorantiveF90)adults (black, colored, white)scutonal scutonal brainPircende, scutonal <br< th=""><th>Study</th><th>Sample</th><th>Design</th><th>Exposure</th><th>Outcome(s)</th><th>Covariates</th><th>Findings</th></br<>	Study	Sample	Design	Exposure	Outcome(s)	Covariates	Findings
Somali adolescents, ages in the United States for in the United States for at least 12 monthsCross- sectionalEveryday Dis- reininationPTSD measured with the UCLAAge, gender, war trauma, years in the United years in the United States, arrived with parent, caregiver fluency, housing a dequacy, postwar hardships, acculturativeH9)4,351 South African adults (black, colored, white)Cross- sectionalDetroit Area and 12-monthDSM-IV lifetime income, employment mood and anxiety witelAge, gender, war trauma, years in the United barent, caregiver hardships, acculturative hassles9)4,351 South African adults (black, colored, white)Cross- sectionalDetroit Area and 12-monthDSM-IV lifetime income, employment and 12-month income, employment status, marital status, wealth, urban/rural criminationF9)Scale, "main reason" for experiencesDiscrimina- disordersNoNo9)Scale, "main desirability, self-esteremNo	Seng et al. (2012)	Women pregnant with their first child (N = 619), 55.3% white, 33.9% black, 7.6% Asian/Pacific Islander, 9.2% Native American, Hispanic, or Middle Eastern	Cross- sectional	Everyday Dis- crimination Scale (9 items) and additional item inquiring about the "main reason" for experiences	National Women's Study PTSD (NWS-PTSD) module-assessed PTSD symptoms using DSM-IV criteria	Poverty, education, residence in high-crime area, minority racial/ethnic status in neighborhood, lifetine trauma, sum of attributions for discrimination	Positive association between everyday discrimination and PTSD symptoms in minimally and fully adjusted models The number of different attributions for everyday discrimination was significant in unadjusted analyses but was no longer significant after taking into account the frequency of experiences of everyday discrimination
4,351 South African Cross- Detroit Area DSM-IV lifetime Age, sex, race, education, F   000) adults (black, colored, sectional Study Major and 12-month income, employment   1ndian/Asian, and biscrimina- mood and anxiety income, employment income, employment   white) tion Scale, tion Scale, disorders wealth, urban/rural N   status, white) tion Scale, disorders wealth, urban/rural N   status, marital status, tion Scale, disorders wealth, urban/rural N   experience Scale, "main resources, social N N stressors, social N	Ellis et al. (2008)	Somali adolescents, ages $12-19$ ( $N = 135$ ) living in the United States for at least 12 months	Cross- sectional	Everyday Dis- crimination Scale	PTSD measured with the UCLA PTSD Index	Age, gender, war trauma, years in the United States, arrived with parent, caregiver fluency, housing adequacy, postwar hardships, acculturative hassles	Positive association between everyday discrimination and PTSD symptom severity
	Moomal et al. (2009)	4,351 South African adults (black, colored, Indian/Asian, and white)	Cross- sectional	Detroit Area Study Major Discrimina - tion Scale, Everyday Dis- crimination Scale, "main reason" for experiences	DSM-IV lifetime and 12-month mood and anxiety disorders	Age, sex, race, education, income, employment status, marital status, wealth, urban/rural location, natural resources, social stressors, social desirability, self-esteem	Positive association between major and everyday nonracial discrimination and lifetime and 12-month mood and anxiety disorders No significant association between major or everyday racial discrimination and outcomes in fully adjusted models

Abbreviations: DSM-IV, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth edition.

least one prior study has examined these associations. In a sample of 799 African Americans from the National Survey of Black Americans, Brown and colleagues (2000) found that greater reports of discrimination at one wave of data collection predicted higher levels of depression at follow-up one year later. Conversely, greater levels of depression at the earlier wave did not predict higher reports of discrimination at follow-up (Brown et al. 2000), providing some evidence of temporal ordering, with reports of discriminatory experiences preceding elevated rates of depression. More recent studies have been primarily cross-sectional but have greatly expanded upon the psychiatric outcomes studied. In addition to depression, studies have found remarkably consistent associations between various indices of interpersonal discrimination and a range of DSM-IV psychiatric illnesses, such as anxiety disorders, eating disorders, and even psychotic disorders (**Table 1**).

#### **RECENT RESEARCH ON DISCRIMINATION AND PHYSICAL HEALTH**

Some of the most compelling data linking discrimination to health have emerged over the past decade. Of particular note is the increased emphasis on objective physical health outcomes rather than subjective, self-reported health. Studies have found prospective associations between reports of discrimination and a variety of objective clinical disease outcomes, including all-cause mortality (Barnes et al. 2008), hypertension (Dolezsar et al. 2014), incident breast cancer (Taylor et al. 2007), and incident asthma (Coogan et al. 2014a). Researchers have also observed associations between self-reported discrimination and silent, preclinical endpoints with established linkages to later disease such as carotid intima media thickness (Troxel et al. 2003), coronary artery calcification (Lewis et al. 2006), nighttime blood pressure (Beatty & Matthews 2009, Brondolo et al. 2008, Tomfohr et al. 2010), visceral fat (Lewis et al. 2011a), and inflammation (Lewis et al. 2010). Reports of discrimination have also been linked to other "silent" indicators of poor health and premature aging including higher allostatic load (Brody et al. 2014), shorter telomere length (Chae et al. 2014), increased oxidative stress (Szanton et al. 2012), and dysregulations in cortisol (Zeiders et al. 2014).

Both prospective studies and studies of silent disease have been critically important in advancing the science of discrimination and health because they provide evidence against reverse-causality arguments, which posit that individuals who are ill may also recall more negative experiences (i.e., poor health leading to greater reports of discrimination). Research linking discriminatory experiences to early, preclinical indicators, as well as other studies that have found significant associations between discrimination and lifestyle factors (obesity) (Cozier et al. 2014, Hunte 2011, Hunte & Williams 2009) and health behaviors (poor sleep, smoking) (Borrell et al. 2010, 2013; Lewis et al. 2013; Slopen & Williams 2014; Thomas et al. 2006), also provides useful preliminary evidence on potential pathways through which these experiences might "get under the skin" to impact later disease.

#### IMPLICATIONS FOR RACIAL/ETHNIC DISPARITIES IN HEALTH

Although a large body of research documents the negative impact of discriminatory experiences on the mental and physical health of racial/ethnic minorities, relatively few studies have examined the extent to which discrimination accounts for racial/ethnic disparities in health (Albert & Williams 2011). The few studies that have examined this issue have largely focused on psychological distress or self-reported health (as reviewed by Williams & Mohammed 2009), and findings indicate that in the United States, Australia, South Africa, and New Zealand, reports of discrimination do account for some of the racial/ethnic disparities observed in these outcomes. Research on more objective health indicators has documented similar results. Mustillo and colleagues (2004) examined data from 352 African American and white female participants in the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study and found that self-reported experiences of racial discrimination were significantly associated with higher rates of both preterm births and low-birth-weight babies. Moreover, black-white disparities in these outcomes were partially explained by reports of racial discrimination (Mustillo et al. 2004). More recently, a study of everyday discrimination (a measure of overall mistreatment) and 24-hour blood pressure in 78 African American and white adults (Tomfohr et al. 2010) found that discrimination was significantly associated with higher levels of nocturnal nondipping in both racial/ethnic groups and fully explained black-white disparities in nondipping. Similar results were found in two separate studies examining associations between ethnic discrimination and polysomnography-assessed sleep architecture in African Americans and whites (Thomas et al. 2006, Tomfohr et al. 2012). Although not all studies have observed this pattern of results (for an exception, see Lewis et al. 2013), taken together these findings provide preliminary support for the notion that discrimination may be a key contributor to racial differences in several important indicators of poor health and disease.

#### ONGOING CONTROVERSIES AND GAPS IN KNOWLEDGE

Despite the numerous inroads that have been made in the science of discrimination and health, a number of controversies and unresolved issues remain. Many of these issues center around (*a*) factors related to perceiving and/or reporting discrimination; (*b*) the relative importance of racial/ethnic discrimination versus overall discrimination and the best way to measure these constructs; (*c*) the need for a better understanding of how "intersectionalities," or multiple group identities, shape the experiences and consequences of discrimination; (*d*) the importance of capturing multiple aspects of discrimination across the life span; and (*e*) the need to control for other important variables that might impact the association between discrimination and health, including other stressors resulting from social disadvantage, and in studies of physical health outcomes, depression and other mental disorders that could either confound or potentially mediate associations between reports of discrimination and clinical disease. These issues are summarized briefly below.

#### Qualities of Perception: Challenges for Measuring and Assessing Health Effects

**Perception bias.** Self-reports of discrimination depend on the motivation and willingness of research participants to report discrimination. Moreover, research needs to guard against two types of perception bias in self-reports (Kaiser & Major 2006): First, some individuals may perceive less discrimination than actually exists (a minimization bias), and second, some may perceive more discrimination than actually exists (a vigilance bias).

Minimization bias in self-reports of discrimination occurs when individuals underreport their actual experiences because of not attending to, underestimating, or even denying having been a target of such experiences (Kaiser & Major 2006). This minimization may occur because (*a*) some perpetrators deny that discrimination occurred, (*b*) reporting discrimination can be psychologically costly, and (*c*) discrimination is sometimes subtle and ambiguous. The larger stress literature indicates that some people cope with stress by denying its occurrence. Denial can range from a single passive escape strategy to multiple active distractive strategies that seek to reduce the levels of distress (Vos & de Haes 2007). The emotional pain of racism may also affect recall, contributing to the inability of some individuals to recall specific events (Carter 2007). Future research on discrimination needs to more clearly delineate the triggers, levels, and consequences of denial and how denial relates to the broad range of coping strategies used in responding to discrimination (Brondolo et al. 2009, Noh & Kaspar 2003).

Bias linked to vigilance is evident when the prior history of an individual and/or his/her group experiences with discrimination leads to attributing ambiguous experiences to discrimination. Such vigilance can protect the individual from physical harm and can foster feelings of self-worth in the face of negative evaluations because the individual can attribute these experiences to external causes rather than personal failure. We do not have a clear picture of the social contextual triggers of this perceptual bias. Some evidence indicates that vigilance for discrimination increases when the threat of discrimination increases (Kaiser & Major 2006). Cultural worldviews may also affect the likelihood of reporting discrimination. Individuals belonging to low-status social groups but who endorse a meritocratic worldview may be less likely to report that they had personally been a victim of discrimination (Kaiser & Major 2006). These persons appear to be more willing to blame negative outcomes on themselves than on discrimination. In contrast, members of high-status groups who favor individual mobility beliefs, or the view that advancement is possible for all people in America, are more likely to report personally being a victim of discrimination. Thus, a positive association exists between individual mobility beliefs and reporting reverse discrimination among whites (Kaiser & Major 2006). A need remains for more systematic evaluation of the extent to which responses to questions about discrimination are subject to systematic biases linked to culture, nationality, age, and other social and psychological factors. A review of this literature indicates that the current evidence is unclear with regard to whether vigilance or minimization biases predominate (Kaiser & Major 2006). Some studies have found that subordinate group members are more likely than dominant ones (women and blacks compared to men and whites, respectively) to interpret critical feedback as discriminatory, whereas other studies find no differences in the perceptions of rejections as bias among nondominant versus dominant group members (for a review, see Kaiser & Major 2006).

Addressing the challenge of perception bias. A significant innovation in the assessment of discrimination is the development of a measurement instrument that does not rely on self-report and thus circumvents perception bias issues. Krieger and colleagues (2011) have created a version of the Implicit Association Test that seeks to assess the extent to which respondents view themselves and their racial/ethnic group as a target versus a perpetrator of discrimination. The goal is to overcome some of the limitations of self-reported data by measuring experiences of racial bias that individuals are unable or unwilling to report. These implicit measures in their current form demonstrate weak-to-modest associations with health behaviors and indicators of health status (Krieger et al. 2010, 2011). Thus, despite the enormous promise of this approach, many questions remain (Williams & Mohammed 2013). It is unclear exactly what aspects of racial discrimination are being tapped by these measures (actual prior exposure, severity of prior exposure, vigilance regarding discrimination, perceived threat, or other dimensions of racial discrimination or racerelated experiences). The very low correlations between these new implicit measures of racial discrimination and the more commonly used validated explicit measures of discrimination have also been raised as a concern, as has the question regarding the ability of implicit measures of racial discrimination to capture psychological stress appraisal processes that could be a central component of the stress process (Williams & Mohammed 2013). Future research is needed to enhance our understanding of what the current implicit measure of discrimination is capturing and to continue to explore the feasibility of accurately measuring at least some aspects of discrimination with measures that are independent of self-report.

The potential role of personality characteristics. Studies that continue to utilize self-reported measures of discrimination also need to carefully consider the role of personality characteristics, which could impact the tendency to perceive and/or report discriminatory treatment.

Well-documented associations exist between poor health and personality traits such as hostility, neuroticism, pessimism, and extraversion (Cohen et al. 2003, Tindle et al. 2009, Turiano et al. 2012, Wilson et al. 2005); however, few studies have examined associations among personality characteristics, discrimination, and health. Studies of discrimination and health that have chosen to include personality traits have focused primarily on hostility (Beatty et al. 2011; Brondolo et al. 2011a; Lewis et al. 2006, 2013) and other anger-related constructs (Beatty & Matthews 2009, Gibbons et al. 2010, Steffen et al. 2003). Less is known about how other personality characteristics impact associations between reports of discriminatory treatment and health.

In a small study of 31 African American and 31 white adults, Richman and colleagues (2010) examined the role of neuroticism in addition to hostility as a potential confounder of the association between discriminatory experiences and ambulatory blood pressure dysregulation throughout the day and night. Findings revealed a significant association between discrimination and blood pressure dysregulation even after controlling for a range of biobehavioral and psychological confounders, including both neuroticism and hostility (Richman et al. 2010). Similarly, Wagner et al. (2013) found independent associations between discrimination and endothelial reactivity to stress after adjusting for neuroticism in a laboratory study of 113 women with type II diabetes. Additionally, in one of the few studies to examine the role of pessimism, Hunte and colleagues (2013) observed a main effect of discriminatory treatment on depressive symptoms in a sample of 3,105 adults that persisted even after controlling for pessimism as well as hostility and other anger-related constructs.

To our knowledge, only one study has examined the interactive effects of discrimination and personality traits on health. In a study of discrimination, neuroticism, and cognitive function in 296 older African Americans, Barnes and colleagues (2012) found that although reports of discrimination were significantly associated with higher levels of neuroticism, neuroticism did not explain the inverse association between discrimination and cognition. Furthermore, in analyses examining the interaction between discrimination and neuroticism, results revealed that the association between discrimination and neuroticism, results revealed that the association between discrimination and poor cognitive function was observed only for older adults who were low—rather than high—in neuroticism (Barnes et al. 2012), providing additional evidence that personality factors may not play a significant role in the association between discrimination and health outcomes. Thus, to date, findings suggest that associations between discrimination and health are largely independent of personality. However, studies in this area have been small, with a limited range of personality characteristics, and predominantly cross-sectional. Additional prospective studies are needed to fully disentangle the relationships among discrimination, a range of personality characteristics, and health.

#### **Racial/Ethnic Discrimination Versus Overall Discrimination**

A major unresolved issue in the field of discrimination and health is the extent to which racial bias has effects on health that are distinct from other forms of unfair treatment (Krieger 2012, Williams et al. 2012). This is a key consideration in the ongoing controversy over whether "race" needs to be made salient in the assessment of self-reported experiences of racial discrimination or whether researchers should opt for the use of more neutral terminology.

How to best ask the question: In one stage or two? Many questions that assess discrimination utilize what has been termed the one-stage approach, in which respondents are explicitly instructed to report on "racial discrimination" or experiences of discrimination "because of your race" (Krieger et al. 2005, Landrine & Klonoff 1996). A limitation of questions explicitly framed about race is the potential for interviewer effects, in which participants are motivated to please the interviewer by reporting the kind of information that they believe the interviewer is interested in (Smith 2002). Consistently inquiring about discrimination "because of your race" may create demand effects that trigger higher reports of racial discrimination. An alternative two-stage approach, largely based on the work of Williams and colleagues (Kessler et al. 1999, Williams et al. 1997), was created in part to offset these concerns. The two-stage approach inquires about discriminatory experiences as a form of unfair treatment more broadly and only asks about the attribution after a generic experience has been endorsed. This approach appears reasonable given that the most frequently used term in the social science assessment of discrimination is "unfair treatment" (Smith 2002), and across studies, African Americans in particular consistently report more of these experiences than do whites (Barnes et al. 2004, Kessler et al. 1999, Lewis et al. 2012, Richman et al. 2010, Tomfohr et al. 2010, Williams et al. 1997).

Nonetheless, concerns exist about the ability of such questions to capture racial discrimination accurately. Some evidence suggests that the one-stage approach leads to higher reports of discrimination. For example, in a sample of 586 African Americans, Brown (2001) compared African Americans' reports of discrimination using a single-item question assessing whether the respondent had "ever been treated unfairly or badly because of your race or ethnicity" to responses to six items about unfair treatment (at work, by the police, in education and housing) that were each followed by a question asking for the main reason for unfair treatment. He found that 67% of participants reported racial discrimination with the one-stage question compared to 50% with the two-stage approach. In contrast, Chae and colleagues (2008) examined these issues in a study of discrimination and smoking in 2,073 Asian Americans in the National Latino and Asian American Study. They compared results from analyses of the nine-item Everyday Discrimination Scale (assessed with no attribution) to the results using a three-item scale that included items assessing how often respondents felt that they were disliked or treated unfairly because of their race or ethnicity and how often they had seen friends of their racial/ethnic background treated unfairly. The researchers found higher reports of unfair treatment compared to racial discrimination, with 74% of Asians reporting everyday discrimination and 62% reporting racial/ethnic discrimination. Chae et al. (2008) also noted patterns of association that led them to question the idea that racial discrimination was a subset of unfair treatment and whether these two sets of questions capture two qualitatively different phenomena. First, the correlation between the two measures was 0.43, and second, both measures predicted smoking even after controlling for the other. Third, 30% of respondents who reported no unfair treatment on the Everyday Discrimination Scale reported some racial discrimination. And fourth, ethnic identification moderated racial discrimination but not unfair treatment. The authors concluded that "racial/ethnic discrimination is distinct from the experience of unfair treatment" (Chae et al. 2008, p. 490). Accordingly, some have argued that the assessment of discrimination with the one-stage approach is a superior and more valid measure of racial discrimination (Brown 2001, Chae et al. 2008, Krieger 2012) than is the two-stage approach. However, it is important to note that studies comparing these approaches have largely compared apples to oranges because the items compared, as detailed above, differed in aspects other than the explicit reference to race and ethnicity.

Experimental studies have found that the one-stage approach yields higher reports of racial discrimination, but these studies also raise important questions about validity. Gomez & Trierweiler (2001) found higher reports of both racial and gender discrimination among African American students and women when asked explicitly about "racism and race discrimination" and "sexism and gender discrimination," respectively, than when first asked about their college experiences and subsequently asked a follow-up question that ascertained the reasons for mistreatment. Similarly, a comparative analysis of 7,505 African American, white, Latino, American Indian, Asian American, and multiracial adults from the California Health Interview Survey found that across racial/ethnic groups, reports of discrimination differed depending on whether the question was asked in one stage or two (Shariff-Marco et al. 2011). For each racial/ethnic group, the overall unattributed unfair treatment with the two-stage approach was higher than racial discrimination with the one-stage approach, but reports of racial discrimination specifically were higher with the one-stage approach (Shariff-Marco et al. 2011). Although some have used this as an argument in favor of the one-stage approach (Shariff-Marco et al. 2011), these findings have been interpreted by others to mean that making race (and gender) salient in the assessment of discrimination, compared to using neutral terminology, could lead to a vigilant response bias (Gomez & Trierweiler 2001, Williams & Mohammed 2009).

The need is clear for future research that uses careful experimental designs, in multiple contexts, with multiple racial/ethnic groups in which there is direct comparison of these alternate approaches (Smith 2002). If reliable differences emerge from these tests, research would need to identify why the levels of reported discrimination differ and which approach yields more valid data. Open-ended follow-up questions after reports of perceived unfair treatment may prove useful (Williams et al. 2012), as Bobo & Suh (2000) found that some initial reports of racial discrimination did not appear to be racially motivated in the supplemental details provided by a follow-up open-ended question. Thus, more in-depth cognitive interviewing that interrogates how respondents understand the terms "discrimination" and "unfair treatment" may also be important and would provide rich qualitative detail about these experiences that could help to elucidate the extent to which question wording can elicit reports of different phenomena.

**Implications for health outcomes.** Despite the abundance of arguments on the relative importance of assessing racial/ethnic discrimination in one stage versus two (Brown 2001, Chae et al. 2008, Gomez & Trierweiler 2001, Krieger 2012, Krieger et al. 2011, Shariff-Marco et al. 2011, Williams et al. 2012, Williams & Mohammed 2009), to date there is limited evidence that racial discrimination (as currently assessed) has effects on health that are substantively different from other types of discrimination. Results from prior reviews and meta-analyses indicate that reports of racial and nonracial discrimination have similar associations with health (Pascoe & Richman 2009, Williams & Mohammed 2009), suggesting that common processes may underlie both. Neuroimaging research has found that the perception of unfairness is linked to negative emotional responses and activation of brain regions associated with emotion regulation (Tabibnia et al. 2008). This provides support for the notion that the quest for justice and fairness could be a core human drive, and violation of this drive may have important physiological consequences.

Some evidence suggests that irrespective of attribution, experiences of unfair treatment lead to negative psychological and physiological reactions. For example, research conducted in the United Kingdom on more than 5,000 individuals from the Whitehall II study cohort has documented associations between a generic measure of perceived unfairness and the metabolic syndrome (De Vogli et al. 2007a), incident psychiatric morbidity (Ferrie et al. 2006), and incident coronary events (De Vogli et al. 2007b). Similarly, Lewis and colleagues (2006) found that self-reported experiences of overall everyday discrimination (a combination of both racial and nonracial forms of mistreatment) were positively associated with coronary artery calcification among African American women; however, attributing discrimination to race/ethnicity alone was not. Conversely, Guyll et al. (2001) observed greater diastolic blood pressure reactivity to stress in African American women who attributed everyday discrimination to race/ethnicity compared to those who attributed discrimination to other causes, whereas yet another study in African American women using the same scale found that nonracial attributions were more strongly associated with hypertensive status than were racial attributions (Roberts et al. 2008). Additionally, as noted previously, Chae and colleagues (2008) found comparable main effects of everyday discrimination (without attributions) and a measure of racial/ethnic discrimination on self-reported smoking in Asian Americans. Thus, although the majority of studies in this domain indicate that the experience of unfairness or mistreatment may be more important for health than what the mistreatment is attributed to, additional research is needed to more comprehensively examine this notion as well as the extent to which the approach to capturing the attribution impacts any observed associations.

The inherent limitations of self-report data for accurate attributions. It is important to note that studies that ask explicitly about racism, and studies that inquire about overall mistreatment more broadly, rely solely on self-reported data about discriminatory events. This assumes that the individual reporting the experience has all available information about a given interaction and is able to accurately distinguish between racial discrimination and other types of interpersonal mistreatment. Although at least one study has found that participants report feeling highly certain about their attributions (Williams et al. 2012), it is also possible that these attributions are shaped by factors other than the interpersonal interaction itself. For example, in a study of 3,466 participants from the CARDIA cohort, Dutton and colleagues (2014) found that even at the highest levels of BMI-class I and class II obesity-African American women reported less weight discrimination than did their white female counterparts. This result could be due to differences in actual exposure: Experimental data have shown that obesity is less stigmatizing for African American women, with both African Americans and whites demonstrating a greater acceptance of larger body sizes for African American, compared to white, women (Hebl & Heatherton 1998, Hebl et al. 2009). However, it could also be due to differences in sensitivity, such that obese white women may be more sensitive to and therefore more likely to attribute interpersonal mistreatment to weight. For African American women, perhaps across levels of obesity, discriminatory treatment due to race may be more salient (i.e., the ethnic prominence hypothesis) (Levin et al. 2002), which might contribute to a higher likelihood of attributing unfair treatment to racism even under circumstances where it could be due to weight. Thus, it is possible that even when individuals are entirely certain about their attribution for interpersonal mistreatment, the actual underlying reason for mistreatment in a given situation is largely unknown.

#### The Importance of Intersectionalities in the Study of Discrimination and Health

Another potential limitation of research on discrimination and health that focuses on a single attribution for discriminatory experiences (i.e., race/ethnicity alone) is that this practice ignores the fact that individuals frequently occupy more than one socially disadvantaged status and that these statuses may interact to shape their experiences (Cole 2009). For example, 25 years ago Crenshaw argued that "Black women sometimes experience discrimination in ways similar to white women's experiences; sometimes they share very similar experiences with Black men. Yet often they experience double discrimination—the combined effects of practices [that] discriminate on the basis of race, and on the basis of sex. And sometimes, they experience discrimination as Black women—not the sum of race and sex discrimination of effects, intersectionality, has been most frequently utilized to characterize the experiences of African American women (Crenshaw 1989, Purdie-Vaughns & Eibach 2008), researchers have noted the advantage of this approach for understanding the unique experiences of HIV-positive gay African American men, low-income Latina lesbians, and others at the intersection of two or more disadvantaged statuses (Bowleg 2012).

Although it is useful for understanding the complexity of exposure to discrimination across a diverse range of population subgroups, the concept of intersectionality focuses largely on qualitative differences in experiences and exposures. Thus, researchers have discussed the inherent difficulties in modeling intersectionality quantitatively (Cole 2009, Seng et al. 2012). However, some headway has been made. In recent analyses of 2,647 middle-aged adults from the Midlife Development in the United States cohort, Grollman (2014) found that participants who were multiply disadvantaged on the basis of race, gender, sexual orientation, and/or weight also reported more types of discrimination (e.g., discrimination on the basis of race, gender, sexual orientation). Individuals who reported more types of discrimination were, in turn, more likely to report higher levels of psychological distress, poorer health, and greater functional limitations (Grollman 2014). Future studies are needed in this area in order to further understand how multiple types of discrimination combine to affect health.

Finally, although the intersectionality framework is often used to conceptualize the experiences of multiply disadvantaged groups, it is also helpful in thinking about the intersections between disadvantaged and privileged statuses. For example, middle-class African Americans occupy at least one disadvantaged and one privileged status, but they may be unable to adequately access their privileged socioeconomic status because of the constraints of their race (Jackson & Williams 2006). With respect to discrimination, research suggests that race and socioeconomic status (SES) interact for this group, such that across studies, higher-SES African Americans consistently report more discrimination than do their lower-SES counterparts (Borrell et al. 2006, Dailey et al. 2010, Hunt et al. 2007, Krieger et al. 2011, Taylor et al. 2004). There is also preliminary evidence that the effects of discrimination on cortisol may be more harmful for higher-SES than for lower-SES African Americans (Fuller-Rowell et al. 2012). Although these associations are provocative, they have not yet been replicated; thus, future studies with adequate representation of both low- and middle-class African Americans are needed to determine whether these findings would generalize to other cohorts and other outcomes.

### The Need for a More Comprehensive Assessment of Racism and Discriminatory Experiences

Research on psychosocial stress more broadly suggests that failure to measure stress comprehensively could lead to a dramatic underestimation of the association between stress and health (Thoits 2010). Much of the earliest work on discrimination and health utilized scales that focused on acute, one-time instances of discriminatory treatment, conceptually similar to life events in the stress literature (Bastos et al. 2010). Life events are experiences that are readily observable and discrete, with a clear onset and ending. Examples of discriminatory life events include job loss and being denied a bank loan. However, other important types of experiences identified in the stress literature have relevance for the study of discrimination, including chronic stressors, traumatic stressors, and macrostressors. These exposures span the life course, often beginning early in life and continuing throughout old age.

Chronic stressors are stressful experiences that are ongoing or recurrent. These problems or difficulties can occur in major domains (for example, parenting or work), or they can be more minor day-to-day day hassles and irritations (for example, being stuck in traffic or misplacing or losing things). Although measuring chronic stressors can be a challenge, chronic stressors are generally more strongly linked to disease onset and course than acute stressors are (Cohen et al. 1995). In the discrimination literature, the Everyday Discrimination Scale (Williams et al. 1997) has emerged as a widely used instrument in recent years that is designed to measure more chronic aspects of interpersonal discrimination. Items range from generally minor—somewhat analogous to the assessment of daily hassles in the stress literature (items related to being treated with less respect or courtesy)—to more consequential occurrences (questions about being insulted or harassed).

Attractive properties of the scale include its brevity, good psychometric properties (Taylor et al. 2004), and its utility across multiple racial/ethnic groups in the United States (Lewis et al. 2012) and in international contexts such as South Africa (Williams et al. 2008). An emerging drawback in the literature is that in many studies, the Everyday Discrimination Scale is utilized as the only measure of discrimination (Williams & Mohammed 2009). This is potentially problematic because although this scale captures an important dimension of discrimination that had been historically neglected, it is nonetheless only one aspect of the phenomenon of discrimination.

Traumas are life events that are extreme and overwhelming. These types of stressors (such as having been in a life-threatening accident, kidnapped, sexually assaulted, or tortured) can have a long-term negative impact on health outcomes (Pearlin et al. 2005, Stam 2007). Traumas are different from life events in that they assess experiences that are potentially life threatening in addition to being extreme and overwhelming in impact. To date, traumas have not received much attention in the discrimination literature. However, a recently developed scale, the Race-Related Events Scale (Waelde et al. 2010), includes items designed to assess a wide range of traumatic discriminatory events. Items ask respondents whether they were chased, beaten, or hurt; threatened with a knife, gun, or other weapon; or threatened to be killed because of their race/ethnicity. It also inquires about several vicarious discriminatory events of a traumatic nature such as witnessing someone of "your same race/ethnicity" seriously injured or killed (Waelde et al. 2010). In a sample of 408 college students, greater exposure to events on the Race-Related Events Scale was associated with more posttraumatic stress disorder symptomatology in racial/ethnic minority, but not white, students (Waelde et al. 2010). Although additional research in this domain, across a wider range of populations, is needed, initial findings suggest that discriminatory experiences that are severe, life threatening, or dangerous could have great potential for psychological injury.

Macro stressors are large-scale stressors such as natural or man-made disasters or economic recessions. The larger stress literature has documented that incidents such as the onset of war, earthquakes, and terrorist attacks are positively associated with hospital admissions, incident heart disease, and heart disease mortality (Bhattacharyya & Steptoe 2007). However, less attention has been given to understanding the health impact of large-scale race- or ethnicity-related traumatic events, such as race riots or highly publicized instances of police brutality. Limited evidence suggests that such events have the potential to harm health. For example, in the wake of the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, there was a well-documented increase in discrimination and harassment of Arab Americans that remained markedly elevated for several months. In an examination of birth outcome data for California in the six months following the attack, Lauderdale (2006) found that low-birth-weight and preterm birth rates were significantly higher for Arab American women from October 2001 to March 2002 than during the same period the prior year (October 2000 to March 2001). No other racial/ethnic group experienced an increase in adverse birth outcomes during the same period (Lauderdale 2006).

The Duke University lacrosse team incident in 2006 is another example of a race/ethnicityrelated macro stressor. In this instance, an African American woman accused several white male athletes of rape, violence, and racial derogation (Richman & Jonassaint 2008). African American students at the university reported feeling stressed and also expressed concerns for their safety as a result of the extensive and racially divisive media coverage of the incident. Data from an ongoing experimental study on the Duke University campus allowed researchers to compare students who participated in the experiment before the lacrosse team incident with those who took part following the event. The researchers found that African American students, particularly females, who participated in the experiment following the incident had higher levels of cortisol and were less responsive to the experimental task compared to those who participated before media coverage of the lacrosse scandal (Richman & Jonassaint 2008). Thus, both sets of findings provide evidence that macro-level discriminatory stressors may have an impact on health. Future research that capitalizes on emergent opportunities to further examine the health consequences of these types of events is needed.

Finally, although many discrimination measures seek to assess the lifetime occurrence of discriminatory events, inadequate attention has been given to capturing exposure to discrimination over the life course. A growing body of research on discrimination in children (Cogburn et al. 2011, Coker et al. 2009, Pachter & Coll 2009, Sanders-Phillips 2009) indicates that exposure to discriminatory events actually begins in childhood, which has important consequences for health in childhood and adolescence (Beatty & Matthews 2009, Brody et al. 2014, Matthews et al. 2005, Priest et al. 2013, Zeiders et al. 2014) and may also be linked to adverse health in later life. As one example, a small study of pregnant African American women found that witnessing discrimination as a child—i.e., against a parent or other adult—was associated with increases in diastolic blood pressure during pregnancy (Hilmert et al. 2014) as well as poorer birth outcomes (Dominguez et al. 2008).

As outlined by Gee and colleagues (2012), taking a life course lens seriously in research on discrimination and health will require studies that explicitly examine early life experiences, potential sensitive periods, interdependence in exposures among persons, latency periods, stress proliferation processes, and historical periods and birth cohorts (Gee et al. 2012). In addition to research on children and/or early life exposures, studies of discrimination in elderly populations may prove particularly useful in examining some of these effects. For instance, studies consistently have found that elderly African American and Hispanic adults report lower levels of discrimination compared to their middle-aged and young adult counterparts (Kessler et al. 1999, Perez et al. 2008, Sims et al. 2009). It is unclear whether this is (*a*) merely a result of selective survival; (*b*) an effect of aging, such that experiences and/or perceptions change across the life course; or (*c*) indicative of a cohort effect, with older racial/ethnic minorities having experienced more traumatic or more severe instances of discrimination than most recent scales are designed to assess. Additional qualitative as well as quantitative research on cohort effects as well as changes in discriminatory experiences over the life course is warranted.

#### The Importance of Assessing Additional Psychosocial Stressors Related to Social Disadvantage

In addition to assessing discriminatory stressors comprehensively, it is also necessary to assess other psychosocial stressors related to social disadvantage. Self-reported experiences of discrimination are an important and, until recently, neglected form of psychosocial stress. However, assessing these experiences alone does not capture all of the health-relevant aspects of racism and does not take into account other psychosocial stressors driven by racism-related factors that might also contribute to disparities in health. The stress of discrimination and analyzed in the context of larger societal forces, including institutional racism, that initiate and sustain differences in exposure to a wide range of stressors (Williams & Mohammed 2009). Thus, there is a need to examine racial differences in stressors that may be shaped by institutional discrimination, including neighborhood conditions, violence, criminal victimization, financial stress, and relationship stress.

An example of the comprehensive assessment of stressors comes from the Chicago Community Adult Health Study. This study adapted some of the best available measures to identify stress in eight domains that reflect key arenas in which people operate (e.g., home, job, neighborhood) and the major roles/statuses they assume. Stressors included acute life events, work stressors, financial stress, life discrimination (everyday discrimination and major experiences of discrimination), work discrimination, relationship stress, childhood adversity, and neighborhood stress (Sternthal et al. 2011). The authors observed a graded association between the number of stressors and poor selfreported health outcomes. Moreover, for African Americans and US-born Latinos, stress exposure explained a substantial portion of the health gap even after adjusting for socioeconomic status. Additional analyses of the same sample found that discrimination made a unique contribution to accounting for racial differences in self-reported sleep even after adjustment for income, education, and other stressors (Slopen & Williams 2014). Studies of objective physical health outcomes have found similar associations. In a reanalysis of data on discrimination and visceral fat, Lewis and colleagues (2011b) found that after taking additional psychosocial stressors such as financial strain, negative life events, and perceived stress into account, discriminatory stressors were the only stressors significantly associated with visceral fat, consistent with findings observed by Troxel et al. (2003) in a study of discrimination, other psychosocial stressors, and carotid atherosclerosis. Although the analyses led by Lewis and Troxel (Lewis et al. 2011b, Troxel et al. 2003) used less extensive measures of psychosocial stress than did the Chicago Community Adult Health Study (Slopen & Williams 2014, Sternthal et al. 2011), findings from all four studies underscore the importance of examining discrimination and health associations in conjunction with other stressors related to social disadvantage.

### The Importance of Controlling for Depressive Symptoms in Studies of Discrimination and Physical Health

In addition to examining other psychosocial stressors related to social disadvantage, research on discrimination and health needs to fully consider the role of depression and depressive symptoms. As previously noted, a number of studies have documented strong and consistent associations between reports of discriminatory treatment and depressive symptoms as well as major depressive disorder (Barnes et al. 2004, Brown et al. 2000, Gee et al. 2007, Lau et al. 2013, McLaughlin et al. 2010). Both major depression and elevated depressive symptoms have been implicated in the development of a wide range of clinical disease outcomes including, but not limited to, cardiovascular disease (Henderson et al. 2013, Vaccarino et al. 2007, Whooley & Wong 2013), diabetes (Golden et al. 2008, Holt et al. 2014), HIV (Ickovics et al. 2001), and asthma (Brunner et al. 2014, Coogan et al. 2014b). Depression and elevated depressive symptoms have also been linked to several important health behaviors such as smoking (Breslau et al. 1998), inadequate physical activity (Roshanaei-Moghaddam et al. 2009), and sleep (Hall et al. 2000, Tsuno et al. 2005). Although it is possible that depression merely functions as a "third variable" that confounds the association between reports of discrimination and indicators of physical health, prospective studies indicate that experiences of discrimination may temporally precede the development of depression and elevated depressive symptoms (Brown et al. 2000, Schulz et al. 2006), suggesting that depressive symptoms may be one pathway through which discrimination impacts later clinical disease.

The larger literature on discrimination and health often ignores the potential role of depression and depressive symptoms as a means of further understanding discrimination and health associations (Cozier et al. 2014, Cunningham et al. 2012, Hunte 2011, Krieger et al. 2013, Sims et al. 2012). However, most studies that have controlled for depressive symptoms find that associations between discrimination and physical health are independent of (Barnes et al. 2008; Friedman et al. 2009; Gee et al. 2008; Lewis et al. 2010, 2011a, 2013; Mustillo et al. 2004), or partially mediated through (Barnes et al. 2012, Earnshaw et al. 2013), depressive symptoms, and at least one study found that discrimination and depressive symptoms interacted to predict self-reported cardiovascular disease (Chae et al. 2012). Still, in order to more accurately estimate the independent effect of self-reported experiences of discrimination on physical health outcomes,

more consistent control for depression and depressive symptoms is needed. Additionally, given the strong associations observed between reports of discrimination and other types of mental disorders (e.g., generalized anxiety, posttraumatic stress disorder) (see **Table 1**) and the emerging literature linking these disorders to disease states (Farvid et al. 2014, Goetz et al. 2014, Lambiase et al. 2014, Vaccarino et al. 2013), future studies should also consider the role of psychological disorders outside of depression in order to further our understanding of psychological pathways through which discriminatory experiences impact clinical disease.

#### **EMERGING AREAS OF INTEREST**

As recent reviews and meta-analyses demonstrate (Brondolo et al. 2009, 2011b; Dolezsar et al. 2014; Schmitt et al. 2014; Williams & Mohammed 2009), the body of research on discrimination and health has grown exponentially over the past two decades. To date, much of this work has focused on examining the main effects of interpersonal discrimination alone on mental and/or physical health outcomes, in traditional community-based or laboratory settings. Less is known about (*a*) the health effects of discrimination in less-traditional arenas, such as commonly frequented online contexts; (*b*) the role of anticipatory stress, or vigilance, around discrimination and its potential impact on health; (*c*) traditional and/or novel stress buffers that might attenuate the effects of discrimination on health, and (*d*) effective interventions that might ultimately reduce the impact of discrimination on health outcomes. Emerging research in each of these areas is presented below.

#### **Cyber Discrimination**

Eighty-seven percent of American adults and 93% of teens access the Internet in some form (Fox & Rainie 2014, Lenhart et al. 2010), spending nearly nine hours a day online (Fox & Rainie 2014). This widespread adoption of Internet use has fundamentally altered the way people share, work, socialize, and communicate (Fox & Rainie 2014), which may have important implications for the ways in which we understand and assess exposure to discrimination and its subsequent effects on mental and physical health. Several characteristics of online social environments may distinguish online experiences with discrimination from offline encounters. Online or virtual social environments expand social networks and access to information but can also provide a sense of anonymity that transforms the way individuals choose to communicate (Fox & Rainie 2014). Kang's (2000) cyber-race theory predicts that online social interaction improves understanding across racial groups and thus predicts a reduction in racial discrimination experiences. Other scholars, however, suggest that the anonymity provided by online social environments promotes disinhibited and impersonal interactions that increase the likelihood of prejudice and discrimination being expressed (Glaser & Kahn 2005, McKenna & Bargh 2000).

Although few studies have examined the prevalence of online discrimination and its effects on health, evidence indicates that online experiences with racial discrimination may be both common and meaningful (Tynes et al. 2004, 2008). In an analysis of content from monitored and unmonitored popular teen web sites, Tynes and colleagues (2004) found that race was a common feature of online interactions. Tynes and colleagues (2008) further examined exposure to cyber discrimination in a separate study of 264 adolescents and found that 20% of whites, 29% of blacks, and 42% of multiracial/other-race youth reported that they had experienced discrimination in online contexts, including text messaging, chat rooms, discussion forums, and social network sites. Moreover, approximately 7 out of 10 adolescents had witnessed online racial discrimination that was not targeted at them personally (vicarious discrimination). The authors found that after adjustment for

demographic factors, other adolescent stress, and offline discrimination, online individual racial discrimination was positively associated with both depressive and anxiety symptoms (Tynes et al. 2008). However, online vicarious discrimination was not related to mental health.

Thus, although an emerging body of research is examining the effects of online victimization more broadly (e.g., bullying) on psychological functioning (Moessner 2007), a great deal is not yet understood about online social environments as a context for experiencing racial and other forms of discrimination (Tynes et al. 2008). Virtual spaces represent a potentially unique social context that may transform the dynamics of discrimination. But additional empirical evidence is needed regarding the prevalence of online racial and other types of discrimination, the locations of victimization (e.g., social media sites versus gaming sites), and whether the effects of online discrimination on health differ from those of offline experiences. Further, because the bulk of research in this area has focused on adolescents and mental health outcomes, almost nothing is known about how online experiences of discrimination impact objective physical health outcomes or the mental and physical health of adults. A comprehensive research agenda examining the effects of discrimination in online contexts across age groups and across outcomes would make an important contribution to future research on discrimination and health.

#### Vigilance and Anticipatory Stress

In addition to research on the effects of exposure to discrimination on health, several recent studies have also examined how anticipating discrimination might impact health. Measuring anticipatory stress or vigilance related to the threat of discrimination allows for a fuller understanding of the impact of stress generated by discrimination. Brosschot and colleagues (2006) use the term "perseverative cognition" to capture worry, rumination, and anticipatory stress. Their review indicates that repeated or chronic activation of the cognitive imagery of a stressor can serve to prolong the stress and exacerbate the negative effects of stress on health. This anticipatory stress, reflected in chronic or sustained vigilance, can lead to dysregulation of both emotional and physiological functioning that can increase risks for multiple diseases. Researchers had long speculated that a heightened vigilance and a failure to ever completely relax because of the constant threat of discrimination and other dangers linked to living in hostile residential contexts was a contributor to the elevated risk of disease in African Americans (Myers et al. 2003, Williams et al. 1994). Growing evidence suggests that heightened vigilance related to the threat of discrimination has pathogenic effects on health. In a national sample of adults in Sweden, Lindström (2008) found that a single-item indicator of anticipatory ethnic discrimination was associated with lower levels of psychological health. Similarly, a study of Latina college students found that the anticipation of being discriminated against led to greater concern and threat emotions before an encounter with the potential perpetrator and more stress and greater cardiovascular responses after the encounter (Sawyer et al. 2012).

In addition to developing the Everyday Discrimination Scale in the 1995 Detroit Area Study, David Williams and colleagues developed a six-item scale to capture heightened vigilance (Clark et al. 2006, Williams et al. 1997). After respondents reported experiences of everyday discrimination, they were asked, "In dealing with the experiences that you just told me about, how often do you a) think in advance about the kind of problems that you are likely to experience?, b) try to prepare for possible insults before leaving home?, c) feel that you always have to be careful about your appearance (to get good service or avoid being harassed)?, d) carefully watch what you say and how you say it?; e) carefully observe what happens around you?, and f) try to avoid certain social situations and places?" (Clark et al. 2006). Recent studies with this scale or abbreviated versions of it highlight the importance of assessing the health consequences of vigilance related to discrimination. In a study of African American youth (mean age 12 years), Clark et al. (2006) showed

that vigilance was inversely related to large arterial elasticity (a preclinical index of cardiovascular function) for boys but not girls. A study of adults in Baltimore found that African Americans had higher levels of vigilance than whites had and that vigilance was both positively associated with depressive symptoms and contributed to the black-white disparity in this outcome (LaVeist et al. 2014). Similarly, a study of 3,105 adults in Chicago found that vigilance predicted an elevated risk of self-reported sleep difficulties, independent of income and education, and that racial differences in sleep difficulty were completely attenuated when adjusted for vigilance (Hicken et al. 2013). Another analysis with this same sample found that vigilance was associated with increased odds of hypertension for African Americans and Hispanics but not whites (Hicken et al. 2014). Moreover, vigilance remained predictive of hypertension in African Americans after adjusting for hypertension risk factors and discrimination. Taken together, these findings suggest that independent of actual experiences of racism or overall discrimination, the threat of discrimination alone may have important health consequences. Additional research that furthers our understanding of how and in what contexts discrimination-related vigilance impacts health is warranted.

#### **Potential Moderators or Discrimination Buffers**

As research continues to explore the impact of discrimination on health, there is a real need for increased attention to factors that serve to reduce or exacerbate health effects in order to inform future interventions. A review on discrimination and coping (Brondolo et al. 2009) found mixed results for racial/ethnic identity, generic coping strategies, accepting discrimination as a fact of life versus talking about it, and social support as potential buffers against the effects of discrimination on health. More recent studies have explored how other factors, such as religious involvement and mindfulness, might attenuate the negative effects of racial and other forms of discrimination on health.

**Religious involvement and the potential role of prayer.** Recent national data point to the continued significance of religious involvement in the lives of blacks, with both African Americans and Caribbean blacks reporting similar levels of religious engagement, both higher than levels in whites (Chatters et al. 2009). Research has long shown that religious beliefs and behavior can buffer or moderate some of the negative effects of chronic and acute stressors on health (Ellison et al. 2001, Williams et al. 1991, Wink et al. 2005). Most of the research on discrimination as a psychosocial stressor has not examined the potential effects of religious participation or specific religious behaviors (i.e., prayer) as buffers; however, available evidence suggests that this may be a promising area of research inquiry. Prospective analyses of the National Survey of Black Americans found that multiple aspects of religious engagement (attendance, church-based social support, and seeking religious guidance in everyday life) reduced the negative effects of recent experiences of racial discrimination on mental health (Ellison et al. 2008). Similarly, in the national survey of Midlife Development in the United States, religious attendance (but not religious comfort) buffered the positive association between discrimination and negative affect (Bierman 2006). This effect was evident for African Americans but not for whites. Most recently, in a small laboratory study of 81 African American women, Cooper and colleagues (2014) found that women who reported using prayer as a coping strategy for racist events were buffered against the negative effects of a racism-related anger recall task on negative affect and cardiovascular reactivity (Cooper et al. 2014). These findings provide some preliminary support for the notion that religious involvement and religious behaviors may attenuate the effects of discrimination on outcomes, particularly for African Americans. However, it is unclear whether these associations would generalize to other racial/ethnic groups, and much remains to be learned about the conditions under which particular aspects of religion might reduce the negative impact of acute, chronic, and traumatic discriminatory stressors on physical and mental health.

**Mindfulness.** Another coping strategy that may have utility for the study of discrimination and health is mindfulness. Mindfulness, or nonjudgmental attention and awareness, has been identified as a successful coping strategy with wide-ranging benefits for mental health and greater well-being (for a review, see Brown et al. 2007). The benefit of mindfulness is generally thought to occur through the improvement of emotion regulation, the ability to separate experience from self-worth, and reduced emotional reactivity (Brown et al. 2007). In a recent study of 605 adults from a wide range of racial/ethnic backgrounds, Brown-Iannuzzi and colleagues (2014) found that the adverse effects of discrimination on depressive symptoms were less pronounced for individuals high in trait mindfulness. The buffering effect of mindfulness on depressive symptoms was maintained even after accounting for the influence of positive emotions (e.g., amusement, awe, love), suggesting a unique benefit of mindfulness (Brown-Iannuzzi et al. 2014). Although to date limited research has been conducted in this area, this work provides some preliminary evidence to support the use of mindfulness as a potential strategy for reducing the negative effects of discrimination on mental and perhaps physical health.

**Emotional support.** Although Brondolo and colleagues (2009) found mixed evidence for social support as a buffer of cross-sectional associations between discrimination and health, a recent study suggests that emotional support from family members and peers might play a role in prospective associations between discrimination and health. In a sample of 331 African American late adolescents, Brody and colleagues (2014) identified two classes of racial discrimination trajectories assessed over a three-year period: (*a*) high and stable and (*b*) low and increasing. Although the low and increasing profile exhibited the lowest levels of allostatic load across levels of emotional support, individuals in the high and stable trajectory with high levels of emotional support had allostatic load levels at age 20 that were comparable to the low and increasing category. Additional longitudinal studies are needed to determine whether these effects can be replicated in other cohorts with a wider range of demographic characteristics.

#### Interventions

As an extension of research on potential stress buffers of discrimination, an emerging body of research is beginning to focus on identifying, developing, and rigorously evaluating effective interventions to reduce the negative effects of discrimination on health. Three types of interventions may have promise for studies of discrimination and health: values affirmation, forgiveness, and antiracism countermarketing.

Values affirmation interventions. Values affirmation exercises provide an opportunity for individuals to write briefly about their most important value and why it is important to them. The exercise is designed to enhance an individual's sense of adequacy and self-worth and appears to have stress-buffering properties. Research suggests that although self-affirmation does not reduce the perception of threatening stressors, it enhances an individual's psychological resilience such that functioning is enhanced and the potential negative effects of stressors are reduced (Cook et al. 2012, Sherman & Hartson 2011). Findings from randomized double-blind experiments indicate that values affirmation interventions may reduce some of the effects of negative racial stigmatization on academic performance (Cohen et al. 2006, 2009), and there is growing interest in the potential of values affirmation interventions to affect health outcomes. Research reveals that this simple exercise can reduce hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and sympathetic nervous system reactivity to stress (Creswell et al. 2005, Sherman et al. 2009).

A variation of the values affirmation intervention, a social belonging intervention, has also shown remarkable results with racial/ethnic minority college students (Walton & Cohen 2011). The short intervention—a two-hour procedure implemented once during the students' freshman year—was designed to neutralize the psychological perception of threat that many minority college students contend with. It did so by informing students that social adversity on campus was common to all incoming freshman, but temporary, and sought to help them internalize this message. Using a double-blind randomized field experiment, this study found that the social belonging intervention reduced health-care visits and improve self-reported health over a three-year observation period among African Americans but not whites (Walton & Cohen 2011). The intervention also improved African Americans' academic performance, reducing the black-white achievement gap in this sample by 50%. These results are particularly promising, and the extent to which such interventions can reduce the negative effects of discrimination on a broader range of health outcomes will be important to determine in future research.

Forgiveness interventions. In the rapidly emerging literature on forgiveness and health, transgressions (either wrongful behavior by others toward oneself or one's own wrong actions) are viewed as stressors and forgiveness as an emotion-focused coping strategy that can reduce the negative effects of stress and promote health (Worthington & Scherer 2004). Forgiveness is defined as choosing to give up resentment in the face of injustice or unfair treatment and offering mercy and compassion toward the offender (Baskin & Enright 2004). Research in the United States finds that blacks and Mexican Americans report higher levels of forgiveness than do whites (Krause 2012, McFarland et al. 2012). Research reveals that interventions that encourage forgiveness can be effective in promoting mental and physical health (Baskin & Enright 2004, Hui & Chau 2009, Reed & Enright 2006, Waltman et al. 2009) in adults and children dealing with interpersonal wrong, conflict, or emotional abuse. The role of forgiveness has also been of interest in the context of ethnic and civil conflicts in places such as Rwanda and Sierra Leone (Doran et al. 2012). In Rwanda, for example, a forgiveness intervention was associated with reduced trauma symptoms and a more positive orientation toward members of the other group (Staub et al. 2005). However, little attention has been given to the potential of forgiveness interventions to reduce the negative effects of racial discrimination on health. Additional research in this area is warranted.

**Racism countermarketing.** Finally, community-based interventions may also have the potential to counteract the effects of racism on health. In the Racism Still Exists campaign, over a period of six months Kwate (2014) used outdoor advertising media at bus stops in predominantly black neighborhoods in New York City to disseminate statements about the presence of racism in the United States. These advertisements included messages such as "Fast Food Companies Don't Target Black People—They Just Don't Have Any Restaurants in White Neighborhoods" and "Don't Want to Get Stopped by the NYPD? Stop Being Black." Compared to residents in a demographically similar neighborhood reported significant declines in psychological distress. Although the study did not find differences in self-reported health status or health behaviors, the intervention represents a promising community-based approach for reducing the effects of racism on mental health and potentially addressing health inequalities (Kwate 2014).

#### FINAL THOUGHTS

The overwhelming body of research on discrimination and health indicates that self-reported experiences of discrimination are an important risk factor for poor mental and physical health. Studies have found remarkably consistent associations between reports of discrimination and health across cohorts and across outcomes. Importantly, these associations are independent of potential threats to validity in terms of personality characteristics, and they have been observed with both subjective and objective outcomes and in cross-sectional as well as longitudinal studies.

The goal of this review was to summarize the current state of the science on discrimination and health, with a particular emphasis on both ongoing and emerging issues. Presently, very little controversy exists over whether researchers should include measures of discrimination in studies of health disparities. Rather, recent discussions center on how to best measure these experiences, including whether to ask about racism specifically or general mistreatment more broadly, and whether to use implicit along with explicit measures of discrimination to obtain more accurate information. More attention needs to be given to understanding how these different measurement strategies and different forms of discrimination impact associations with health.

For example, despite the current debates over making race salient versus not salient in the assessment of discrimination for African American and other racial/ethnic minority groups, research suggests that racial and nonracial forms of interpersonal discrimination have similar associations with health. However, it is less clear why this might be and whether the underlying mechanisms (e.g., neural, cognitive, cellular) associated with discriminatory experiences due to race are similar to those of other forms of mistreatment. It is also unclear how these similar associations impact research on racial/ethnic disparities in health. That is, in a world where everyone is impacted by interpersonal mistreatment, what are the implications for how researchers think about the effects of race and the historical legacy of racism on health?

These questions are difficult to answer, but they provide a strong rationale for the importance of assessing discrimination comprehensively (acute, chronic, and traumatic), at multiple levels (micro and macro), across the life course, and in a range of contexts (e.g., online)—particularly in studies of health disparities. It is important to recognize that interpersonal discrimination is not a magic bullet that explains all of the stress associated with racial/ethnic minority status. Thus, it should be examined in the context of other macro-level forms of discrimination as well as other stressors associated with social disadvantage. Furthermore, studies that focus on interpersonal forms of discrimination alone need to move beyond examining only a sole aspect of identity (e.g., "race") and understand how intersectionalities shape exposure to discrimination and health outcomes for individuals who occupy multiple statuses simultaneously (e.g., African American and female, gay and Latino).

The field needs more well-designed observational studies that are longitudinal in nature, that have objective outcomes, and that take into account factors that might influence reports of discrimination (vigilance or minimization biases, personality characteristics). Most importantly, these studies should begin to identify mechanistic pathways through which experiences of discrimination get under the skin to ultimately influence health outcomes. Identification of potential psychological and physiological pathways will contribute to our understanding of where and when to intervene to counteract the negative effects of discrimination on health. As one very relevant example, understanding the ways in which depression and depressive symptoms contribute to associations between reports of discrimination and physical disease may prove useful in designing interventions for depression that include modules on coping with experiences of discrimination.

Studies that examine factors that promote resilience to discrimination are also greatly needed. To date, most studies of discrimination and health—particularly those with physical health outcomes—have focused on examining main effects. Research on coping with discrimination has yielded mixed results, but as detailed in this review, recent studies have found that religiosity, mindfulness, and emotional support show some promise as potential stress buffers. Studies examining other individual-level coping strategies or dispositions that might foster resilience to discrimination will be important priorities for future research. Furthermore, we know very little about contextual or environmental factors that could ameliorate the effects of discrimination on health. It is possible that there are specific neighborhoods (e.g. ethnic enclaves) or other aspects of the physical or social environment (e.g., ethnic minority-owned businesses) that might promote

feelings of empowerment and reduce the negative effects of discriminatory treatment on mental and physical health for specific groups.

Additionally, the overwhelming majority of research suggests that health policies need to take into account the legacies of racial and ethnic inequality and levels of incivility, intolerance, and antiimmigrant sentiment. We also need more research on individual-, community-, and institutionallevel interventions that might be effective in reducing the negative impact of discrimination on health in affected populations. The individual- and community-level interventions reviewed here show some promise, but additional research in this area is greatly needed. Finally, significant inroads need to be made in order to dismantle the institutional policies, structures, and processes that underlie societal inequality and race-related discrimination. As research documenting the adverse effects of discrimination on health continues to grow, these efforts will become critically important as a means of improving health in societies shaped by racism and other forms of discrimination.

#### SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. Despite decades of progress, particularly in the United States, empirical data indicate that discrimination persists in the Obama era and impacts several major life domains, including housing, employment, health care, and interactions with law enforcement.
- 2. Self-reported experiences of discrimination have emerged as an important psychosocial stressor with demonstrated linkages to a wide range of mental disorders as well as objective, clinically relevant markers of physical disease. Additionally, some—but not all—studies have found that self-reported experiences of discrimination partially explain racial disparities in health.
- 3. Although relatively understudied, personality characteristics represent an important threat to the validity of discrimination and health associations, potentially impacting both reports of discrimination and health outcomes. Yet studies controlling for personality characteristics such as neuroticism, pessimism, and anger-related constructs have found that associations between discrimination and health persist even after adjustment for these factors.
- 4. Currently, considerable controversy remains over whether or not to make "race" salient in the assessment of discrimination. However, to date evidence suggests that racial and nonracial forms of discrimination have similar associations with health.
- 5. Assessing only one aspect of identity (e.g., race) ignores the fact that many individuals occupy multiple statuses simultaneously (e.g., African American and female). These multiple statuses, or intersectionalities, could potentially shape both experiences with discrimination and the impact of discriminatory experiences on mental and physical health outcomes.
- 6. Similar to other forms of psychosocial stress, discriminatory stressors can be acute, chronic, and/or traumatic and can occur at both micro and macro levels as well as across the life span. Most studies of discrimination and health have focused primarily on acute discriminatory events, or, more recently, chronic forms of discrimination—at the micro level and usually at only one point in time. Some studies suggest that traumatic forms of discrimination, macro-level discriminatory events, and exposure to discrimination across the life span might also impact health outcomes, but research in these areas has been limited.

- 7. In studies seeking to better understand racial disparities in health, it is important to note that assessing discriminatory experiences alone may not capture all of the health-relevant aspects of racism. Other psychosocial stressors are driven by racism-related factors and might also contribute to health disparities, including neighborhood conditions, interactions with the criminal justice system, financial stress, exposure to violence, and relationship stressors. The stress of discrimination should be measured and analyzed in the context of these other stressors, which are shaped by social disadvantage.
- 8. Both cross-sectional and longitudinal studies have documented strong and consistent associations between self-reported experiences of discrimination and depression/depressive symptoms. Depression and depressive symptoms, in turn, have been linked to several clinical disease outcomes. Consequently, it may be important to consider the role of depression/depressive symptoms (as well as other psychiatric disorders) as potential mediators or confounders in studies of discrimination and physical health outcomes.

#### **FUTURE ISSUES**

- 1. Exposure to discrimination in online contexts, i.e., cyber discrimination, is an emerging area of scientific interest; however, studies have focused primarily on mental health outcomes in adolescents. Additional research is needed to fully understand how exposure to cyber discrimination is associated with mental health in adults and with physical health among individuals of all ages.
- 2. Preliminary evidence from a few studies suggests that anticipatory stress and vigilance around discrimination may be associated with poor mental and physical health outcomes, independent of actual exposure to discrimination. Longitudinal studies that further our understanding of how and in what contexts discrimination-related vigilance impacts health are warranted.
- 3. Prospective studies designed to elucidate the psychological and physiological mechanisms through which discriminatory experiences influence mental and physical health are an important priority for future research.
- 4. Identifying best practices for quantifying and analyzing multiple group statuses (e.g., gay and Latino, African American and female) may prove useful for future research on intersectionalities.
- 5. In order to more effectively inform interventions, future studies should focus on identifying a range of individual and/or contextual factors that promote resilience and attenuate the effects of discrimination on poor health.
- 6. Studies that emphasize the design and implementation of individual-, community-, and/or policy-level interventions that could potentially reduce the negative impact of discrimination on health are greatly needed.

#### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

T.T. Lewis received support from National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute grant K01HL092591. The content of this manuscript is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NHLBI or the NIH.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Albert MA, Williams DR. 2011. Invited commentary: Discrimination—an emerging target for reducing risk of cardiovascular disease? *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 173:1240–43
- Alegria M, Takeuchi D, Canino G, Duan N, Shrout P, et al. 2004. Considering context, place and culture: the National Latino and Asian American Study. Int. J. Methods Psychiatr. Res. 13:208–20
- Barnes LL, Lewis TT, Begeny CT, Yu L, Bennett DA, Wilson RS. 2012. Perceived discrimination and cognition in older African Americans. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 18:856–65
- Barnes LL, Mendes de Leon CF, Lewis TT, Bienias JL, Wilson RS, Evans DA. 2008. Perceived discrimination and mortality in a population-based study of older adults. Am. J. Public Health 98:1241–47
- Barnes LL, Mendes de Leon CF, Wilson RS, Bienias JL, Bennett DA, Evans DA. 2004. Racial differences in perceived discrimination in a community population of older blacks and whites. *7. Aging Health* 16:315–37
- Baskin TW, Enright RD. 2004. Intervention studies on forgiveness: a meta-analysis. 7 Couns. Dev. 82:79-90
- Bastos JL, Celeste RK, Faerstein E, Barros AJD. 2010. Racial discrimination and health: a systematic review of scales with a focus on their psychometric properties. Soc. Sci. Med. 70:1091–99
- Beatty DL, Hall MH, Kamarck TA, Buysse DJ, Owens JF, et al. 2011. Unfair treatment is associated with poor sleep in African American and Caucasian adults: Pittsburgh SleepSCORE project. *Health Psychol.* 30:351–59
- Beatty DL, Matthews KA. 2009. Unfair treatment and trait anger in relation to nighttime ambulatory blood pressure in African American and white adolescents. *Psychosom. Med.* 71:813–20
- Bhattacharyya MR, Steptoe A. 2007. Emotional triggers of acute coronary syndromes: strength of evidence, biological processes, and clinical implications. Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis. 49:353–65
- Bierman A. 2006. Does religion buffer the effects of discrimination on mental health? Differing effects by race. J. Sci. Stud. Relig. 45:551–65
- Bobo LD, Suh SA. 2000. Surveying racial discrimination: analyses from a multiethnic labor market. In *Prismatic Metropolis: Inequality in Los Angeles*, ed. LD Bobo, ML Oliver, JH Johnson Jr, A Valenzuela, pp. 527–64. New York: Russell Sage Found.
- Borrell LN, Diez Roux AV, Jacobs DR Jr, Shea S, Jackson SA, et al. 2010. Perceived racial/ethnic discrimination, smoking and alcohol consumption in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Prev. Med. 51:307–12
- Borrell LN, Kiefe CI, Diez-Roux AV, Williams DR, Gordon-Larsen P. 2013. Racial discrimination, racial/ethnic segregation, and health behaviors in the CARDIA study. *Ethn. Health* 18:227–43
- Borrell LN, Kiefe CI, Williams DR, Diez-Roux AV, Gordon-Larsen P. 2006. Self-reported health, perceived racial discrimination, and skin color in African Americans in the CARDIA study. Soc. Sci. Med. 1982 63:1415–27
- Bowleg L. 2012. The problem with the phrase *women and minorities*: intersectionality—an important theoretical framework for public health. *Am. J. Public Health* 102:1267–73
- Breslau N, Peterson EL, Schultz LR, Chilcoat HD, Andreski P. 1998. Major depression and stages of smoking. A longitudinal investigation. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 55:161–66
- Brody GH, Lei MK, Chae DH, Yu T, Kogan SM, Beach SR. 2014. Perceived discrimination among African American adolescents and allostatic load: a longitudinal analysis with buffering effects. *Child Dev.* 85:989– 1002
- Brondolo E, Brady ver Halen N, Pencille M, Beatty D, Contrada R. 2009. Coping with racism: a selective review of the literature and a theoretical and methodological critique. *J. Behav. Med.* 32:64–88
- Brondolo E, Hausmann LR, Jhalani J, Pencille M, Atencio-Bacayon J, et al. 2011a. Dimensions of perceived racism and self-reported health: examination of racial/ethnic differences and potential mediators. Ann. Behav. Med. 42:14–28

- Brondolo E, Libby DJ, Denton EG, Thompson S, Beatty DL, et al. 2008. Racism and ambulatory blood pressure in a community sample. *Psychosom. Med.* 70:49–56
- Brondolo E, Love EE, Pencille M, Schoenthaler A, Ogedegbe G. 2011b. Racism and hypertension: a review of the empirical evidence and implications for clinical practice. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 24:518–29
- Brosschot JF, Gerin W, Thayer JF. 2006. The perseverative cognition hypothesis: a review of worry, prolonged stress-related physiological activation, and health. *7. Psychosom. Res.* 60:113–24
- Brown KW, Ryan RM, Creswell JD. 2007. Mindfulness: theoretical foundations and evidence for its salutary effects. *Psychol. Inq.* 18:211–37
- Brown TN. 2001. Measuring self-perceived racial and ethnic discrimination in social surveys. Sociol. Spectr. 21:377–92
- Brown TN, Williams DR, Jackson JS, Neighbors HW, Torres M, et al. 2000. "Being black and feeling blue": the mental health consequences of racial discrimination. *Race Soc.* 2:117–31
- Brown-Iannuzzi JL, Adair KC, Payne BK, Richman LS, Fredrickson BL. 2014. Discrimination hurts, but mindfulness may help: Trait mindfulness moderates the relationship between perceived discrimination and depressive symptoms. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 56:201–5
- Brunner WM, Schreiner PJ, Sood A, Jacobs DR Jr. 2014. Depression and risk of incident asthma in adults. The CARDIA study. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 189:1044–51
- Byrd D, Mirken B. 2011. Post Racial? Americans and Race in the Age of Obama. Berkeley, CA: Greenlining Inst.
- Carter RT. 2007. Racism and psychological and emotional injury: recognizing and assessing race-based traumatic stress. *Couns. Psychol.* 35:13
- Chae DH, Nuru-Jeter AM, Adler NE, Brody GH, Lin J, et al. 2014. Discrimination, racial bias, and telomere length in African-American men. *Am. J. Prev. Med.* 46:103–11
- Chae DH, Nuru-Jeter AM, Lincoln KD, Jacob Arriola KR. 2012. Racial discrimination, mood disorders, and cardiovascular disease among black Americans. *Ann. Epidemiol.* 22:104–11
- Chae DH, Takeuchi DT, Barbeau EM, Bennett GG, Lindsey J, Krieger N. 2008. Unfair treatment, racial/ethnic discrimination, ethnic identification, and smoking among Asian Americans in the National Latino and Asian American Study. Am. J. Public Health 98:485–92
- Chatters LM, Taylor RJ, Bullard KM, Jackson JS. 2009. Race and ethnic differences in religious involvement: African Americans, Caribbean blacks and non-Hispanic whites. *Ethn. Rac. Stud.* 32:1143–63
- Clark R, Benkert RA, Flack JM. 2006. Large arterial elasticity varies as a function of gender and racism-related vigilance in black youth. *J. Adolesc. Health* 39:562–69
- Cogburn CD, Chavous TM, Griffin TM. 2011. School-based racial and gender discrimination among African American adolescents: exploring gender variation in frequency and implications for adjustment. *Race Soc. Probl.* 3:25–37
- Cohen GL, Garcia J, Apfel N, Master A. 2006. Reducing the racial achievement gap: a social-psychological intervention. *Science* 313:1307–10
- Cohen GL, Garcia J, Purdie-Vaughns V, Apfel N, Brzustoski P. 2009. Recursive processes in self-affirmation: intervening to close the minority achievement gap. *Science* 324:400–3
- Cohen S, Doyle WJ, Turner R, Alper CM, Skoner DP. 2003. Sociability and susceptibility to the common cold. *Psychol. Sci.* 14:389–95
- Cohen S, Kessler RC, Gordon LU. 1995. Measuring Stress: A Guide for Health and Social Scientists. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Coker TR, Elliott MN, Kanouse DE, Grunbaum JA, Schwebel DC, et al. 2009. Perceived racial/ethnic discrimination among fifth-grade students and its association with mental health. *Am. J. Public Health* 99:878–84
- Cole ER. 2009. Intersectionality and research in psychology. Am. Psychol. 64:170-80
- Coogan PF, Yu J, O'Connor GT, Brown TA, Cozier YC, et al. 2014a. Experiences of racism and the incidence of adult-onset asthma in the Black Women's Health Study. *Chest* 145:480–85
- Coogan PF, Yu J, O'Connor GT, Brown TA, Palmer JR, Rosenberg L. 2014b. Depressive symptoms and the incidence of adult-onset asthma in African American women. *Ann. Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 112:333– 38.e1
- Cook JE, Purdie-Vaughns V, Garcia J, Cohen GL. 2012. Chronic threat and contingent belonging: protective benefits of values affirmation on identity development. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 102:479–96

- Cooper DC, Thayer JF, Waldstein SR. 2014. Coping with racism: the impact of prayer on cardiovascular reactivity and post-stress recovery in African American women. Ann. Behav. Med. 47:218–30
- Cozier YC, Yu J, Coogan PF, Bethea TN, Rosenberg L, Palmer JR. 2014. Racism, segregation, and risk of obesity in the Black Women's Health Study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 179:875–83
- Crenshaw K. 1989. Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: a black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. *Univ. Chicago Legal Forum* 140:139–67
- Creswell JD, Welch WT, Taylor SE, Sherman DK, Gruenewald TL, Mann T. 2005. Affirmation of personal values buffers neuroendocrine and psychological stress responses. *Psychol. Sci.* 16:846–51
- Cunningham TJ, Seeman TE, Kawachi I, Gortmaker SL, Jacobs DR, et al. 2012. Racial/ethnic and gender differences in the association between self-reported experiences of racial/ethnic discrimination and inflammation in the CARDIA cohort of 4 US communities. Soc. Sci. Med. 75:922–31
- Dailey AB, Kasl SV, Holford TR, Lewis TT, Jones BA. 2010. Neighborhood- and individual-level socioeconomic variation in perceptions of racial discrimination. *Ethn. Health* 15:145–63
- De Vogli R, Brunner E, Marmot MG. 2007a. Unfairness and the social gradient of metabolic syndrome in the Whitehall II study. *J. Psychosom. Res.* 63:413–19
- De Vogli R, Ferrie JE, Chandola T, Kivimäki M, Marmot MG. 2007b. Unfairness and health: evidence from the Whitehall II study. *J. Epidemiol. Community Health* 61:513–18
- Dolezsar CM, McGrath JJ, Herzig AJ, Miller SB. 2014. Perceived racial discrimination and hypertension: a comprehensive systematic review. *Health Psychol*. 33:20–34
- Dominguez TP, Dunkel-Schetter C, Glynn LM, Hobel C, Sandman CA. 2008. Racial differences in birth outcomes: the role of general, pregnancy, and racism stress. *Health Psychol.* 27:194–203
- Doran JM, Kalayjian A, Toussaint L, DeMucci J. 2012. The relationship between trauma and forgiveness in post-conflict Sierra Leone. *Psychol. Trauma* 4:614–23
- Durso LE, Latner JD, Hayashi K. 2012. Perceived discrimination is associated with binge eating in a community sample of non-overweight, overweight, and obese adults. *Obes. Facts* 5:869–80
- Dutton GR, Lewis TT, Durant N, Halanych J, Kiefe CI, et al. 2014. Perceived weight discrimination in the CARDIA study: differences by race, sex, and weight status. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 22:530–36
- Earnshaw VA, Rosenthal L, Lewis JB, Stasko EC, Tobin JN, et al. 2013. Maternal experiences with everyday discrimination and infant birth weight: a test of mediators and moderators among young, urban women of color. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 45:13–23
- Ellis BH, MacDonald HZ, Lincoln AK, Cabral HJ. 2008. Mental health of Somali adolescent refugees: the role of trauma, stress, and perceived discrimination. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 76:184–93
- Ellison CG, Boardman JD, Williams DR, Jackson JS. 2001. Religious involvement, stress, and mental health: findings from the 1995 Detroit Area Study. *Soc. Forces* 80:215–49
- Ellison CG, Musick MA, Henderson AK. 2008. Balm in Gilead: racism, religious involvement, and psychological distress among African-American adults. J. Sci. Stud. Religion 47:291–309
- Farvid MS, Qi L, Hu FB, Kawachi I, Okereke OI, et al. 2014. Phobic anxiety symptom scores and incidence of type 2 diabetes in US men and women. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 36:176–82
- Ferrie JE, Head J, Shipley MJ, Vahtera J, Marmot MG, Mika K. 2006. Injustice at work and incidence of psychiatric morbidity: the Whitehall II study. Occup. Environ. Med. 63:443–50
- Fox S, Rainie L. 2014. The Web at 25 in the U.S. Washington, DC: Pew Res. Cent.
- Friedman EM, Williams DR, Singer BH, Ryff CD. 2009. Chronic discrimination predicts higher circulating levels of E-selectin in a national sample: the MIDUS study. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 23:684–92
- Fuller-Rowell TE, Doan SN, Eccles JS. 2012. Differential effects of perceived discrimination on the diurnal cortisol rhythm of African Americans and whites. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 37:107–18
- Gee GC, Ro A, Gavin A, Takeuchi DT. 2008. Disentangling the effects of racial and weight discrimination on body mass index and obesity among Asian Americans. *Am. J. Public Health* 98:493–500
- Gee GC, Spencer M, Chen J, Yip T, Takeuchi DT. 2007. The association between self-reported racial discrimination and 12-month DSM-IV mental disorders among Asian Americans nationwide. Soc. Sci. Med. 1982 64:1984–96
- Gee GC, Walsemann KM, Brondolo E. 2012. A life course perspective on how racism may be related to health inequities. Am. J. Public Health 102:967–74

- Gibbons FX, Etcheverry PE, Stock ML, Gerrard M, Weng CY, et al. 2010. Exploring the link between racial discrimination and substance use: What mediates? What buffers? J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 99:785–801
- Glaser J, Kahn K. 2005. Prejudice, discrimination, and the Internet. In *The Social Net: Understanding Human Bebavior in Cyberspace*, ed. Y Amichai-Hamburger, pp. 247–74. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Goetz M, Shah A, Goldberg J, Cheema F, Shallenberger L, et al. 2014. Posttraumatic stress disorder, combat exposure, and carotid intima-media thickness in male twins. *Am. 7. Epidemiol.* 180:989–96
- Golden SH, Lazo M, Carnethon M, Bertoni AG, Schreiner PJ, et al. 2008. Examining a bidirectional association between depressive symptoms and diabetes. *JAMA* 299:2751–59
- Gomez JP, Trierweiler S. 2001. Does discrimination terminology create response bias in questionnaire studies of discrimination? *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 27:630–38
- Grollman EA. 2014. Multiple disadvantaged statuses and health: the role of multiple forms of discrimination. *J. Health Soc. Behav.* 55:3–19
- Guyll M, Matthews KA, Bromberger JT. 2001. Discrimination and unfair treatment: relationship to cardiovascular reactivity among African American and European American women. *Health Psychol.* 20:315–25
- Hall M, Buysse DJ, Nowell PD, Nofzinger EA, Houck P, et al. 2000. Symptoms of stress and depression as correlates of sleep in primary insomnia. *Psychosom. Med.* 62:227–30
- Hebl MR, Heatherton TF. 1998. The stigma of obesity in women: The difference is black and white. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 24:417–26
- Hebl MR, King EB, Perkins A. 2009. Ethnic differences in the stigma of obesity: identification and engagement with a thin ideal. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 45:1165–72
- Henderson KM, Clark CJ, Lewis TT, Aggarwal NT, Beck T, et al. 2013. Psychosocial distress and stroke risk in older adults. *Stroke* 44:367–72
- Hicken MT, Lee H, Ailshire J, Burgard SA, Williams DR. 2013. "Every shut eye, ain't sleep": the role of racism-related vigilance in racial/ethnic disparities in sleep difficulty. *Race Soc. Probl.* 5:100–12
- Hicken MT, Lee H, Morenoff J, House JS, Williams DR. 2014. Racial/ethnic disparities in hypertension prevalence: reconsidering the role of chronic stress. *Am. J. Public Health* 104:117–23
- Hilmert CJ, Dominguez TP, Dunkel Schetter C, Srinivas SK, Glynn LM, et al. 2014. Lifetime racism and blood pressure changes during pregnancy: implications for fetal growth. *Health Psychol.* 33:43–51
- Holt RI, de Groot M, Lucki I, Hunter CM, Sartorius N, Golden SH. 2014. NIDDK international conference report on diabetes and depression: current understanding and future directions. *Diabetes Care* 37:2067–77
- Hui EKP, Chau TS. 2009. The impact of a forgiveness intervention with Hong Kong Chinese children hurt in interpersonal relationships. Br. J. Guid. Couns. 37:141–56
- Hunt MO, Wise LA, Jipguep MC, Cozier YC, Rosenberg L. 2007. Neighborhood racial composition and perceptions of racial discrimination: evidence from the Black Women's Health Study. Soc. Psychol. Q. 70:272–89
- Hunte HE. 2011. Association between perceived interpersonal everyday discrimination and waist circumference over a 9-year period in the Midlife Development in the United States cohort study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 173:1232–39
- Hunte HE, King K, Hicken M, Lee H, Lewis TT. 2013. Interpersonal discrimination and depressive symptomatology: examination of several personality-related characteristics as potential confounders in a racial/ethnic heterogeneous adult sample. *BMC Public Health* 13:1084
- Hunte HE, Williams DR. 2009. The association between perceived discrimination and obesity in a populationbased multiracial and multiethnic adult sample. Am. J. Public Health 99:1285–92
- Ickovics JR, Hamburger ME, Vlahov D, Schoenbaum EE, Schuman P, et al. 2001. Mortality, CD4 cell count decline, and depressive symptoms among HIV-seropositive women: longitudinal analysis from the HIV Epidemiology Research Study. *JAMA* 285:1466–74
- Jackson JS, Torres M, Caldwell CH, Neighbors HW, Nesse RM, et al. 2004. The National Survey of American Life: a study of racial, ethnic and cultural influences on mental disorders and mental health. Int. J. Methods Psychiatr. Res. 13:196–207
- Jackson PB, Williams DR. 2006. The intersection of race, gender, and SES: health paradoxes. In *Gender*, *Race, Class, & Health: Intersectional Approaches*, ed. A. Schulz, L. Mullings, pp. 131–62. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass

Kaiser CR, Major B. 2006. A social psychological perspective on perceiving and reporting discrimination. Law Soc. Ing. 31:801–30

Kang J. 2000. Cyber-race. Harvard Law Rev. 113:1130-208

- Kessler RC, Mickelson KD, Williams DR. 1999. The prevalence, distribution, and mental health correlates of perceived discrimination in the United States. *J. Health Soc. Behav.* 40:208–30
- Krause N. 2012. Studying forgiveness among older whites, older blacks, and older Mexican Americans. J. Religion, Spirituality Aging 24:325–44
- Krieger N. 2012. Methods for the scientific study of discrimination and health: an ecosocial approach. Am. J. Public Health 102:936–44
- Krieger N, Carney D, Lancaster K, Waterman PD, Kosheleva A, Banaji M. 2010. Combining explicit and implicit measures of racial discrimination in health research. Am. J. Public Health 100:1485–92
- Krieger N, Smith K, Naishadham D, Hartman C, Barbeau EM. 2005. Experiences of discrimination: validity and reliability of a self-report measure for population health research on racism and health. Soc. Sci. Med. 1982 61:1576–96
- Krieger N, Waterman PD, Kosheleva A, Chen JT, Carney DR, et al. 2011. Exposing racial discrimination: implicit & explicit measures—the My Body, My Story study of 1005 US-born black & white community health center members. PLOS ONE 6:e27636
- Krieger N, Waterman PD, Kosheleva A, Chen JT, Smith KW, et al. 2013. Racial discrimination & cardiovascular disease risk: My Body, My Story study of 1005 US-born black and white community health center participants (US). PLOS ONE 8:e77174
- Kwate NOA. 2014. "Racism Still Exists": a public health intervention using racism "countermarketing" outdoor advertising in a black neighborhood. J. Urban Health 91:851–72
- Lambiase MJ, Kubzansky LD, Thurston RC. 2014. Prospective study of anxiety and incident stroke. *Stroke* 45:438–43
- Landrine H, Klonoff EA. 1996. The Schedule of Racist Events: a measure of racial discrimination and a study of its negative physical and mental health consequences. *J. Black Psychol.* 22:144–68
- Lau AS, Tsai W, Shih J, Liu LL, Hwang WC, Takeuchi DT. 2013. The immigrant paradox among Asian American women: Are disparities in the burden of depression and anxiety paradoxical or explicable? *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 81:901–11
- Lauderdale DS. 2006. Birth outcomes for Arabic-named women in California before and after September 11. Demography 43:185–201
- LaVeist TA, Thorpe RJ, Pierre G, Mance GA, Williams DR. 2014. The relationships among vigilant coping style, race, and depression. J. Soc. Issues 70:241–55
- Lenhart A, Purcell K, Smith A, Zickuhr K. 2010. Social Media & Mobile Internet Use Among Teens and Young Adults. Washington, DC: Pew Internet Am. Life Proj. http://www.pewinternet.org/files/old-media/ Files/Reports/2010/PIP\_Social\_Media\_and\_Young\_Adults\_Report\_Final\_with\_toplines.pdf
- Leong F, Park YS, Kalibatseva Z. 2013. Disentangling immigrant status in mental health: psychological protective and risk factors among Latino and Asian American immigrants. Am. J. Orthopsychiatry 83:361– 71
- Levin S, Sinclair S, Veniegas RC, Taylor PL. 2002. Perceived discrimination in the context of multiple group memberships. *Psychol. Sci.* 13:557–60
- Levine DS, Himle JA, Abelson JM, Matusko N, Dhawan N, Taylor RJ. 2014. Discrimination and social anxiety disorder among African-Americans, Caribbean blacks, and non-Hispanic whites. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 202:224–30
- Lewis TT, Aiello AE, Leurgans S, Kelly J, Barnes LL. 2010. Self-reported experiences of everyday discrimination are associated with elevated C-reactive protein levels in older African-American adults. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 24:438–43
- Lewis TT, Everson-Rose SA, Powell LH, Matthews KA, Brown C, et al. 2006. Chronic exposure to everyday discrimination and coronary artery calcification in African-American women: the SWAN Heart Study. *Psychosom. Med.* 68:362–68
- Lewis TT, Kravitz HM, Janssen I, Powell LH. 2011a. Self-reported experiences of discrimination and visceral fat in middle-aged African-American and Caucasian women. Am. J. Epidemiol. 173:1223–31

- Lewis TT, Kravitz HM, Powell LH. 2011b. Three of the authors respond to "Discrimination and Cardiovascular Disease." Am. 7. Epidemiol. 173:1244–45
- Lewis TT, Troxel WM, Kravitz HM, Bromberger JT, Matthews KA, Hall MH. 2013. Chronic exposure to everyday discrimination and sleep in a multiethnic sample of middle-aged women. *Health Psychol.* 32:810–19
- Lewis TT, Yang FM, Jacobs EA, Fitchett G. 2012. Racial/ethnic differences in responses to the Everyday Discrimination Scale: a differential item functioning analysis. *Am. 7. Epidemiol.* 175:391–401
- Lindström M. 2008. Social capital, anticipated ethnic discrimination and self-reported psychological health: a population-based study. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 66:1–13
- Matthews KA, Salomon K, Kenyon K, Zhou F. 2005. Unfair treatment, discrimination, and ambulatory blood pressure in black and white adolescents. *Health Psychol.* 24:258–65
- McFarland MJ, Smith CA, Toussaint L, Thomas PA. 2012. Forgiveness of others and health: do race and neighborhood matter? *J. Gerontol.* 67B:66–75
- McKenna KYA, Bargh JA. 2000. Plan 9 from cyberspace: the implications of the Internet for personality and social psychology. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 4:57–75
- McLaughlin KA, Hatzenbuehler ML, Keyes KM. 2010. Responses to discrimination and psychiatric disorders among black, Hispanic, female, and lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals. Am. J. Public Health 100:1477– 84
- Moessner C. 2007. Cyberbullying. Harris Interact. Trends Tudes 6:1-4
- Moomal H, Jackson PB, Stein DJ, Herman A, Myer L, et al. 2009. Perceived discrimination and mental health disorders: the South African Stress and Health study. S. Afr. Med. J. 99:383–89
- Mustillo S, Krieger N, Gunderson EP, Sidney S, McCreath H, Kiefe CI. 2004. Self-reported experiences of racial discrimination and black-white differences in preterm and low-birthweight deliveries: the CARDIA study. Am. J. Public Health 94:2125–31
- Myers HF, Lewis TT, Parker-Dominguez T. 2003. Stress, coping and minority health: biopsychosocial perspectives on ethnic health disparities. In *Handbook of Racial & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, ed. G Bernal, J Trimble, K Burlew, FTL Leong, pp. 377–400. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Noh S, Kaspar V. 2003. Perceived discrimination and depression: moderating effects of coping, acculturation, and ethnic support. Am. J. Public Health 93:232–38
- N.Y. Civ. Lib. Union. 2014. Report: stop-and-frisk during the Bloomberg administration (2002–2013). New York: NYCLU
- Oh H, Yang LH, Anglin DM, DeVylder JE. 2014. Perceived discrimination and psychotic experiences across multiple ethnic groups in the United States. *Schizophr. Res.* 157:259–65
- Pachter LM, Coll CG. 2009. Racism and child health: a review of the literature and future directions. *J. Dev. Behav. Pediatr.* 30:255–63
- Paradies Y. 2006. A systematic review of empirical research on self-reported racism and health. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 35:888–901
- Pascoe EA, Richman LS. 2009. Perceived discrimination and health: a meta-analytic review. *Psychol. Bull.* 135:531–54
- Pearlin LI, Schieman S, Fazio EM, Meersman SC. 2005. Stress, health, and the life course: some conceptual perspectives. J. Health Soc. Behav. 46:205–19
- Perez DJ, Fortuna L, Alegria M. 2008. Prevalence and correlates of everyday discrimination among U.S. Latinos. 7. Community Psychol. 36:421–33
- Pilver CE, Desai R, Kasl S, Levy BR. 2011. Lifetime discrimination associated with greater likelihood of premenstrual dysphoric disorder. *J. Women's Health* 2002 20:923–31
- Pletcher MJ, Kertesz SG, Kohn MA, Gonzales R. 2008. Trends in opioid prescribing by race/ethnicity for patients seeking care in US emergency departments. *JAMA*: 299:70–78
- Priest N, Paradies Y, Trenerry B, Truong M, Karlsen S, Kelly Y. 2013. A systematic review of studies examining the relationship between reported racism and health and wellbeing for children and young people. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 1982 95:115–27
- Purdie-Vaughns V, Eibach R. 2008. Intersectional invisibility: the distinctive advantages and disadvantages of multiple subordinate-group identities. *Sex Roles* 59:377–91

- Radloff LS. 1977. The CES-D Scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl. Psychol. Meas.* 1:385–401
- Reed GL, Enright RD. 2006. The effects of forgiveness therapy on depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress for women after spousal emotional abuse. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 74:920–29
- Richman LS, Jonassaint C. 2008. The effects of race-related stress on cortisol reactivity in the laboratory: implications of the Duke lacrosse scandal. Ann. Behav. Med. 35:105–10
- Richman LS, Pek J, Pascoe E, Bauer DJ. 2010. The effects of perceived discrimination on ambulatory blood pressure and affective responses to interpersonal stress modeled over 24 hours. *Health Psychol.* 29:403–11
- Roberts CB, Vines AI, Kaufman JS, James SA. 2008. Cross-sectional association between perceived discrimination and hypertension in African-American men and women: the Pitt County Study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 167:624–32
- Roshanaei-Moghaddam B, Katon WJ, Russo J. 2009. The longitudinal effects of depression on physical activity. Gen. Hosp. Psychiatry 31:306–15
- Sanders-Phillips K. 2009. Racial discrimination: a continuum of violence exposure for children of color. Clin. Child Fam. Psychol. Rev. 12:174–95
- Sawyer PJ, Major B, Casad BJ, Townsend SSÄ, Mendes WB. 2012. Discrimination and the stress response: psychological and physiological consequences of anticipating prejudice in interethnic interactions. Am. J. Public Health 102:1020–26
- Schmitt MT, Branscombe NR, Postmes T, Garcia A. 2014. The consequences of perceived discrimination for psychological well-being: a meta-analytic review. *Psychol. Bull.* 140:921–48
- Schulz AJ, Israel BA, Gravlee CC, Mentz G, Williams DR, Rowe Z. 2006. Discrimination, symptoms of depression, and self-rated health among African American women in Detroit: results from a longitudinal analysis. Am. 7. Public Health 96:1265–70
- Seng JS, Lopez WD, Sperlich M, Hamama L, Reed Meldrum CD. 2012. Marginalized identities, discrimination burden, and mental health: empirical exploration of an interpersonal-level approach to modeling intersectionality. Soc. Sci. Med. 75:2437–45
- Shariff-Marco S, Breen N, Landrine H, Reeve BB, Krieger N, et al. 2011. Measuring everyday racial/ethnic discrimination in health surveys. Du Bois Rev. 8:159–77
- Sherman DK, Bunyan DP, Creswell JD, Jaremka LM. 2009. Psychological vulnerability and stress: the effects of self-affirmation on sympathetic nervous system responses to naturalistic stressors. *Health Psychol.* 28:554– 62
- Sherman DK, Hartson KA. 2011. Reconciling self-defense with self-criticism: self-affirmation theory. In Handbook of Self-Enhancement and Self-Protection, ed. MD Alicke, C Sedikides, pp. 128–54. New York: Guilford
- Sims M, Diez-Roux AV, Dudley A, Gebreab S, Wyatt SB, et al. 2012. Perceived discrimination and hypertension among African Americans in the Jackson Heart Study. Am. J. Public Health 102(Suppl. 2):S258–65
- Sims M, Wyatt SB, Gutierrez ML, Taylor HA, Williams DR. 2009. Development and psychometric testing of a multidimensional instrument of perceived discrimination among African Americans in the Jackson Heart Study. *Ethn. Dis.* 19:56–64
- Slopen N, Williams DR. 2014. Discrimination, other psychosocial stressors, and self-reported sleep duration and difficulties. Sleep 37:147–56
- Smith TW. 2002. General Social Survey Methodological Report #96. Chicago: Natl. Opin. Res. Cent., Univ. Chicago
- Soto JA, Dawson-Andoh NA, BeLue R. 2011. The relationship between perceived discrimination and generalized anxiety disorder among African Americans, Afro Caribbeans, and non-Hispanic whites. J. Anxiety Disord. 25:258–65
- South. Poverty Law Cent. 2013. *Hate and Extremism*. Montgomery, AL: SPLC. http://www.splcenter. org/what-we-do/hate-and-extremism
- Stam R. 2007. PTSD and stress sensitisation: a tale of brain and body. Part 1: human studies. Neuroscience 31:530–57
- Staub E, Pearlman LA, Gubin A, Hagengimana A. 2005. Healing, reconciliation, forgiving and the prevention of violence after genocide or mass killing: an intervention and its experimental evaluation in Rwanda. *J. Soc. Clin. Psychol.* 24:297–334

- Steffen PR, McNeilly M, Anderson N, Sherwood A. 2003. Effects of perceived racism and anger inhibition on ambulatory blood pressure in African Americans. *Psychosom. Med.* 65:746–50
- Sternthal MJ, Slopen N, Williams DR. 2011. Racial disparities in health: How much does stress really matter? Du Bois Rev. 8:95–113
- Szanton SL, Rifkind JM, Mohanty JG, Miller ER 3rd, Thorpe RJ, et al. 2012. Racial discrimination is associated with a measure of red blood cell oxidative stress: a potential pathway for racial health disparities. *Int. J. Behav. Med.* 19:489–95
- Tabibnia G, Satpute AB, Lieberman MD. 2008. The sunny side of fairness: Preference for fairness activates reward circuitry (and disregarding unfairness activates self-control circuitry). *Psychol. Sci.* 19:339–47
- Taylor TR, Kamarck TW, Shiffiman S. 2004. Validation of the Detroit Area Study Discrimination Scale in a community sample of older African American adults: the Pittsburgh healthy heart project. *Int. J. Behav. Med.* 11:88–94
- Taylor TR, Williams CD, Makambi KH, Mouton C, Harrell JP, et al. 2007. Racial discrimination and breast cancer incidence in US black women: the Black Women's Health Study. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 166:46–54
- Thoits PA. 2010. Stress and health major findings and policy implications. J. Health Soc. Behav. 51:S41-53
- Thomas KS, Bardwell WA, Ancoli-Israel S, Dimsdale JE. 2006. The toll of ethnic discrimination on sleep architecture and fatigue. *Health Psychol.* 25:635–42
- Tindle HA, Chang Y-F, Kuller LH, Manson JE, Robinson JG, et al. 2009. Optimism, cynical hostility, and incident coronary heart disease and mortality in the Women's Health Initiative. *Circulation* 120:656–62
- Tomfohr L, Cooper DC, Mills PJ, Nelesen RA, Dimsdale JE. 2010. Everyday discrimination and nocturnal blood pressure dipping in black and white Americans. *Psychosom. Med.* 72:266–72
- Tomfohr L, Pung MA, Edwards KM, Dimsdale JE. 2012. Racial differences in sleep architecture: the role of ethnic discrimination. *Biol. Psychol.* 89:34–38
- Troxel WM, Matthews KA, Bromberger JT, Sutton-Tyrrell K. 2003. Chronic stress burden, discrimination, and subclinical carotid artery disease in African American and Caucasian women. *Health Psychol.* 22:300–9
- Tsuno N, Besset A, Ritchie K. 2005. Sleep and depression. J. Clin. Psychiatry 66:1254–69
- Turiano NA, Pitzer L, Armour C, Karlamangla A, Ryff CD, Mroczek DK. 2012. Personality trait level and change as predictors of health outcomes: findings from a national study of Americans (MIDUS). *J. Gerontol. Ser. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci.* 67:4–12
- Tynes B, Reynolds L, Greenfield P. 2004. Adolescence, race and ethnicity on the Internet: a comparison of discourse in monitored and unmonitored chat rooms. *J. Appl. Dev. Psychol.* 25:667–84
- Tynes BM, Giang MT, Williams DR, Thompson GN. 2008. Online racial discrimination and psychological adjustment among adolescents. J. Adolesc. Health 43:565–69
- US Dep. Housing Urban Dev. 2013. Housing discrimination against racial and ethnic minorities 2012. Washington, DC: US Dep. Housing Urban Dev.
- Vaccarino V, Goldberg J, Rooks C, Shah AJ, Veledar E, et al. 2013. Post-traumatic stress disorder and incidence of coronary heart disease: a twin study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 62:970–78
- Vaccarino V, Johnson BD, Sheps DS, Reis SE, Kelsey SF, et al. 2007. Depression, inflammation, and incident cardiovascular disease in women with suspected coronary ischemia: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute-sponsored WISE Study. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 50:2044–50
- Vos MS, de Haes JCJM. 2007. Denial in cancer patients, an explorative review. Psychooncology 16:12-25
- Waelde LC, Pennington D, Mahan C, Mahan R, Kabour M, Marquett R. 2010. Psychometric properties of the Race-Related Events Scale. *Psychol. Trauma* 2:4–11
- Wagner JA, Tennen H, Finan PH, Ghuman N, Burg MM. 2013. Self-reported racial discrimination and endothelial reactivity to acute stress in women. *Stress Health* 29:214–21
- Waltman MA, Russell DC, Coyle CT, Enright RD, Holter AC, Swoboda CM. 2009. The effects of a forgiveness intervention on patients with coronary artery disease. *Psychol. Health* 24:11–27
- Walton GM, Cohen GL. 2011. A brief social-belonging intervention improves academic and health outcomes of minority students. *Science* 331:1447–51
- Whooley MA, Wong JM. 2013. Depression and cardiovascular disorders. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 9:327-54
- Williams DR, Gonzalez HM, Williams S, Mohammed SA, Moomal H, Stein DJ. 2008. Perceived discrimination, race and health in South Africa: findings from the South Africa Stress and Health Study. Soc. Sci. Med. 67:441–52

- Williams DR, John D, Oyserman D, Sonnega J, Mohammed SA, Jackson JS. 2012. Research on discrimination and health: an exploratory study of unresolved conceptual and measurement issues. Am. J. Public Health 102:975–78
- Williams DR, Larson DB, Buckler RE, Heckmann RC, Pyle CM. 1991. Religion and psychological distress in a community sample. Soc. Sci. Med. 32:1257–62
- Williams DR, Lavizzo-Mourey R, Warren RC. 1994. The concept of race and health status in America. Public Health Rep. 109:26–41
- Williams DR, Mohammed SA. 2009. Discrimination and racial disparities in health: evidence and needed research. J. Behav. Med. 32:20–47
- Williams DR, Mohammed SA. 2013. Racism and health I: pathways and scientific evidence. Am. Behav. Sci. 57:1152–73
- Williams DR, Yu Y, Jackson JS, Anderson NB. 1997. Racial differences in physical and mental health: socioeconomic status, stress, and discrimination. *J. Health Psychol.* 2:335–51
- Wilson RS, Krueger KR, Gu L, Bienias JL, Mendes de Leon CF, Evans DA. 2005. Neuroticism, extraversion, and mortality in a defined population of older persons. *Psychosom. Med.* 67:841–45
- Wink P, Dillon M, Larsen B. 2005. Religion as moderator of the depression-health connection: findings from a longitudinal study. *Res. Aging* 27:197–220
- Worthington EL, Scherer M. 2004. Forgiveness is an emotion-focused coping strategy that can reduce health risks and promote health resilience: theory, review, and hypotheses. *Psychol. Health* 19:385–405
- Zeiders KH, Hoyt LT, Adam EK. 2014. Associations between self-reported discrimination and diurnal cortisol rhythms among young adults: the moderating role of racial-ethnic minority status. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 50C:280–88